Monday, 21 May 2018
11.00 am

Bevin Hall, Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square,
London, SW1P 3HZ

Guidance notes for members and visitors
18 Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ
Please read these notes for your own safety and that of all visitors, staff and tenants.
Welcome!
18 Smith Square is located in the heart of Westminster, and is nearest to the Westminster, Pimlico,
Vauxhall and St James’s Park Underground stations, and also Victoria, Vauxhall and Charing Cross
railway stations. A map is available on the back page of this agenda.
Security
All visitors (who do not have an LGA ID badge), are requested to report to the Reception desk where
they will be asked to sign in and will be given a visitor’s badge to be worn at all times whilst in the
building.
18 Smith Square has a swipe card access system meaning that security passes will be required to
access all floors. Most LGA governance structure meetings will take place on the ground floor, 7th
floor and 8th floor of 18 Smith Square.
Please don’t forget to sign out at reception and return your security pass when you depart.
Fire instructions
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the green Fire Exit
signs. Go straight to the assembly point in Tufton Street via Dean Trench Street (off Smith Square).
DO NOT USE THE LIFTS.
DO NOT STOP TO COLLECT PERSONAL BELONGINGS.
DO NOT RE-ENTER BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.
Open Council
Open Council, on the 7th floor of 18 Smith Square, provides informal meeting space
and refreshments for local authority members and officers who are in London.
Toilets
Unisex toilet facilities are available on every floor of 18 Smith Square. Accessible toilets are also
available on all floors.
Accessibility
If you have special access needs, please let the meeting contact know in advance and we will do our
best to make suitable arrangements to meet your requirements.
Every effort has been made to make the building as accessible as possible for people with
disabilities. Induction loop systems have been installed in the larger meeting rooms and at the main
reception. There is a parking space for blue badge holders outside the Smith Square entrance and
two more blue badge holders’ spaces in Dean Stanley Street to the side of the building. There is also
a wheelchair lift at the main entrance. For further information please contact the Facilities
Management Helpdesk on 020 7664 3015.
Guest WiFi in 18 Smith Square
WiFi is available in 18 Smith Square for visitors. It can be accessed by enabling “Wireless Network
Connection” on your computer and connecting to LGA-Free-WiFi. You will then need to register,
either by completing a form or through your Facebook or Twitter account (if you have one). You only
need to register the first time you log on.

Further help
Please speak either to staff at the main reception on the ground floor, if you require any further help
or information. You can find the LGA website at www.local.gov.uk

Fire Commission
21 May 2018
There will be a meeting of the Fire Commission at 11.00 am on Monday, 21 May 2018 Bevin Hall,
Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.
A sandwich lunch will be available after the meeting.
Attendance Sheet:
Please ensure that you sign the attendance register, which will be available in the meeting room. It
is the only record of your presence at the meeting.
Political Group meetings:
The group meetings will take place in advance of the meeting. Please contact your political group as
outlined below for further details.
Apologies:
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to
attend this meeting.
Conservative:
Labour:
Independent:
Liberal Democrat:

Group Office:
Group Office:
Group Office:
Group Office:

020 7664 3223
020 7664 3334
020 7664 3224
020 7664 3235

email:
email:
email:
email:

lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk
Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk
independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk
libdem@local.gov.uk

Location:
A map showing the location of 18 Smith Square is printed on the back cover.
LGA Contact:
Thomas French
020 7664 3041 / thomas.french@local.gov.uk
Carers’ Allowance
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of up to £7.83 per hour is
available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly people or people with disabilities)
incurred as a result of attending this meeting.
Social Media
The LGA is committed to using social media in a co-ordinated and sensible way, as part of a
strategic approach to communications, to help enhance the reputation of local government,
improvement engagement with different elements of the community and drive efficiency. Please feel
free to use social media during this meeting. However, you are requested not to use social media
during any confidential items.
The twitter hashtag for this meeting is #lgafire

Fire Commission – Membership 2017/2018
Councillor
Conservative ( 36)
Cllr Iain McCracken
Cllr Roger Reed
Cllr Kevin Reynolds
Cllr Kevin Buttery
Cllr Sara Randall Johnson
Cllr Spencer Flower
Cllr Rebecca Knox
Cllr Ann Holland
Cllr Roger Hirst
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Mike Whetton
Cllr Christopher Carter
Cllr Roger Phillips
Cllr Terry Hone
Cllr John Briggs
Cllr Gary Peace
Cllr Nick Chard
Cllr Mark Kiddle Morris
Cllr Stuart Tranter
Cllr Andrew Backhouse
Cllr Andre Gonzalez de Savage
Cllr Nicholas Rushton
Cllr Nick Worth
Cllr John Riddle OBE
Cllr Judith Heathcoat
Cllr Susan Hall
Mr Gareth Bacon
Cllr Eric Carter
Cllr Stephen Sweeney
Cllr Matthew Hicks
Cllr Denise Turner-Stewart
Cllr Howard Roberts
Cllr Stuart Davis
Cllr Debbie Kennard
Cllr Peter Harrand
Cllr Simon Spencer (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Colin Spence (Balancing
Member)

Authority

Royal Berkshire Fire Authority
Buckinghamshire and Milton Keynes Fire
Authority
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Fire
Authority
Amber Valley Borough Council
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue
Authority
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service
Essex Fire Authority
Essex County Council
Gloucestershire County Council
Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Herefordshire Council
Hertfordshire County Council
Humberside Fire Authority
Isle of Wight Council
Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority
Norfolk County Council
Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority
North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service
Northamptonshire Fire Authority
Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Combined
Fire Authority
Lincolnshire County Council
Northumberland Council
Oxfordshire County Council
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
Telford and Wrekin Council
Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire Fire Authority
Suffolk County Council
Surrey County Council
Warwickshire County Council
West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority
West Sussex County Council
West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Suffolk County Council

Cllr Alistair Auty (Balancing
Member)
Cllr David O'Toole (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Carol Theobald (Balancing
Member)
Cllr John Bell (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Jason Ablewhite (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Mark Healey MBE
(Balancing Member)
Cllr Tony Hunter (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Chris Pillai JP (Balancing
Member)

Royal Berkshire Fire Authority
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority
East Sussex Fire Authority
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority
Huntingdonshire District Council
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue
Authority
North Hertfordshire District Council
Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council

Substitutes
Labour ( 45)
Cllr Colleen Atkins MBE
Cllr Bob Rudd
Cllr Janice Brunton-Dobson
Cllr John Robinson JP
Cllr David Acton
Cllr Thomas Judge
Cllr Les Byrom CBE
Cllr Frank De Molfetta
Cllr Miles Parkinson
Cllr Brian Grocock
Ms Fiona Twycross AM
Cllr Tudor Davies
Cllr Linda Burgess
Cllr Jack Hopkins
Cllr Alan Atkin
Cllr Mehboob Khan
Cllr Fiona Colley
Mr Andrew Dismore
Mr Unmesh Desai
Cllr Dave Hanratty
Cllr John Edwards
Cllr Mohammed Idrees
Cllr Judith Hughes
Cllr Kevin Dodds (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Caroline Penn (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Leigh Redman (Balancing

Bedfordshire Combined Fire Authority
Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service
Cleveland Fire Authority
County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue
Authority
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority
Lancashire Fire & Rescue Service
Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire
and Rescue Authority
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
South Wales Fire Authority
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
London Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority (LFEPA)
Greater London Authority
Greater London Authority
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority
West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority
West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority
West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Gateshead Council
Brighton & Hove City Council
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue

Member)
Cllr Greg Brackenridge
(Balancing Member)
Cllr Ron Clarke (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Ken Critchley (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Nikki Hennessy (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Christopher Jackson
(Balancing Member)
Cllr Danny Myers (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Shaun O'Neill (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Steve Marshall-Clarke
(Balancing Member)
Cllr James Roberts (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Mick Stoker (Balancing
Member)

Authority
City of Wolverhampton Council
Staffordshire County Council
Newport City Council
Lancashire County Council
Bristol City Council
City of York Council
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Liverpool City Council
Cleveland Fire Authority

Substitutes
Liberal Democrat ( 6)
Cllr Sue James
Cllr Janet Willis
Cllr Roger Price
Cllr Rowland Rees-Evans
Cllr Brian Greenslade (Balancing
Member)
Cllr David Wood (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Fran Oborski MBE
(Balancing Member)
Cllr Keith Aspden (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Ruth Skelton (Balancing
Member)

Cornwall Council
Cumbria County Council
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Ceredigion County Council
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue
Authority
Suffolk County Council
Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue
Authority
North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service
Derby City Council

Substitutes
Independent ( 9)
Cllr Ian Stephens (Chair)
Cllr Donald Davies
Cllr Vic Ellery
Cllr Meirick Davies
Cllr Val Smith (Balancing
Member)
Cllr Lizzie Deane (Balancing
Member)
Substitutes

Isle of Wight Council
North Somerset Council
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue
Authority
North Wales Fire Authority
South Wales Fire Authority
East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service

Agenda
Fire Commission
Monday 21 May 2018
11.00 am
Bevin Hall, Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ

Item

Page

1.

Declarations of Interest

2.

Building safety programme update

1 - 12

a)

13 - 16

Local Government Association response to
Dame Judith Hackitt Report

3.

Fire Minister

17 - 20

4.

NFCC Central Programme Office overview

21 - 26

5.

Diversity and Inclusion

27 - 32

a)

33 - 60

An inclusive fire service

6.

Workforce

61 - 66

7.

Fire Commission update report

67 - 70

8.

Notes from the previous meeting

71 - 77

Date of Next Meeting: Friday, 12 October 2018, 11.00 am,

Time

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Fire safety in high rise buildings

Purpose of report
For discussion.

Summary
This report updates Fire Commission on the actions taken by central and local government
to improve fire safety in high-rise buildings following the Grenfell Tower tragedy on 14 June
2017, and the work of the LGA in relation to this.
Recommendations
That Fire Commission:
(a) Notes and comments on central and local government’s actions to improve fire
safety in high-rise buildings, and the LGA’s work in relation to this; and
(b) Discusses the final recommendations of Dame Judith Hackitt’s review of building
regulations and fire safety if these are published ahead of the Fire Commission
meeting.
Actions
Officers to use members’ discussion and comments to inform the LGA’s on-going work in
relation to fire safety in high-rise buildings and its response to the final recommendations
of the building regulations and fire safety review.
Contact officer:

Mark Norris

Position:

Principal Policy Adviser

Phone no:

020 7664 3241

Email:

mark.norris@local.gov.uk

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Fire safety in high rise buildings
Background
1. Following the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower on 14 June 2017 in which 71 people lost their
lives, fire and rescue services and councils have been working closely with the
government to ensure that high rise buildings in their areas are safe.
Investigations into the cause of the fire
2. The cause of the fire and the reason it spread so quickly through the tower block is still
the subject of an on-going investigation by the Metropolitan Police (MPS). However a
report commissioned by the MPS from fire investigation experts BRE Global and written
in January 2018 was leaked to the media in April. From what has been published about
the report it appears the fire started in a fridge-freezer in a flat on the fourth floor situated
1 metre from the window, and the fire travelled out of the window and took hold in the
cladding system on the outside of the block.
3. Printed extracts from the BRE Global report show it concludes the refurbishment of the
block failed to meet the fire safety standards set out in the building regulations. The
deficiencies identified in the report include:
3.1. the fact that the core of the aluminium composite material (ACM) panels and the
insulation used were combustible;
3.2. the incorrect installation of cavity barriers, which meant a chimney effect was
created in the cladding system;
3.3. the materials used around the window frames allowed the fire to spread back into
other flats rather than stopped its spread;
3.4. the absence of door closers on many front doors meant they were inadvertently left
open, contributing to the breaching of compartmentation in the block; and
3.5. the lack of access for fire engines at the base of the tower and the lack of a wet
water riser.
4. The BRE Global report suggested further areas for investigation, including whether the
fire spread through the open window or the extractor fan in the flat’s kitchen, and
whether the fire doors used in some of the flats had resisted the fire for as long as they
were supposed to.
5. In addition to the MPS investigation, the public inquiry announced by the Prime Minister
in June 2017, and chaired by Sir Martin Moore-Bick, has been tasked with identifying the
immediate cause of the fire and whether the design and construction of the building
complied with building and fire regulations, as well as considering the fire safety
measures in place in the block on 14 June 2017. Although the public inquiry initially

Page 2

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

hoped to have produced a report on the causes of the fire by Easter 2018, it will only
start taking evidence from London Fire Brigade firefighters from June and residents from
September to help it establish where and how the fire started, how it spread, and how
the fire was fought. This phase of the inquiry will start on 21 May with commemorations
of the lives of those who died in the fire. It seems unlikely that the second phase of the
inquiry, which will look at the refurbishment and whether this was compliant with the
building regulations, will commence before the end of 2018.
Making council tower blocks safe
Remediation work
6. As was reported to the last Fire Commission meeting, fifteen councils have been found
to have 45 tower blocks with combinations of ACM cladding and insulation which failed
the tests conducted by the Building Research Establishment (BRE) over the summer of
2017. These tests were commissioned by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG) following representations from the LGA and others, to
establish how different combinations of ACM cladding an insulation behaved in a fire and
whether they were compliant with the building regulations. In addition to the council
blocks over 110 housing association tower blocks in 34 local authorities are also
undergoing remediation work.
7. The primary focus for the fifteen councils has been on making the tower blocks they own
safe. Undertaking this work is of course complex, and for many of the buildings involves
the commissioning of major construction work that has to be planned, consulted on and
carried out. The latest published statistics by MHCLG, which were made available at the
end of April, show that remediation work has started on 104 of the 158 social housing
blocks, with remediation work on seven blocks having finished. In the case of the local
authority blocks we understand the failed cladding systems have been removed from a
significant majority, and the councils responsible for these blocks are now in the process
of replacing the cladding with a new system or have commissioned work to replace it.
8. A particular issue for councils when commissioning remediation work has been
identifying what materials should be used to replace the cladding that has been
removed. It was hoped at the time of the last Fire Commission meeting that MHCLG
would provide building owners with advice on what to use. Although a range of further
advice has been issued to building owners by MHCLG since then, this has not specified
actual combinations of materials to use. Instead MHCLG has advised that any
replacement cladding systems should comply with the guidance in Approved Document
B by either using materials of limited combustibility or passing a large scale (a BS 8414)
test.
9. All of the replacement cladding systems commissioned by councils that we are aware of
are using materials of limited combustibility. While Approved Document B does not
Page 3

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

require such combinations to be tested, councils have sought to obtain large scale test
results to reassure tenants as part of the consultation process. With the test facilities at
BRE booked some time in advance this has delayed councils in getting the test results
they need, and some authorities have had to look to other facilities to conduct tests on
their preferred replacement combinations of cladding and insulation.
Interim fire safety mitigation measures
10. Where any failed combination of ACM and insulation remains on social housing tower
blocks, councils and housing associations have to continue to ensure the safety of
residents in those blocks. To assist with that MHCLG and the National Fire Chiefs
Council (NFCC) produced additional guidance for building owners. MHCLG issued
updated advice on interim fire safety mitigation measures at the end of September 2017.
This recommended that building owners check for example, that they have a suitable fire
risk assessment, that residents understand emergency fire procedures, and that doors
that open on to escape corridors and stairwells are fire resistant.
11. Fire and rescue services have been carrying out inspections with building owners to
assess the risks in individual buildings following the issuing of this advice, which has
required the deployment of considerable resources. We have been working with the
NFCC to quantify this extra cost.
Fire doors
12. An additional issue for some councils has arisen in relation to the fire doors in their
blocks. The investigations into the spread of the fire in Grenfell Tower identified concerns
about whether some of the fire doors in the block could resist fire for the 30 minutes, as
is required by the building regulations. On 15 March the Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government announced that a door from the block tested by the
MPS as part of their investigation had failed after only 15 minutes.
13. As a result MHCLG had sought additional advice from its Expert Panel and the NFCC,
as well as technical experts and the government’s Chief Scientific Advisers. Extra tests
on other doors from the same batch as those at Grenfell Tower made by Manse
Masterdors (which ceased trading in 2014), have been commissioned, as have tests on
other doors. This testing has included taking the doors apart and analysing the materials
used in this batch of doors. We understand that the testing process is still underway.
MHCLG say there is no evidence there is a widespread problem, and the fire safety
advice provided by the Expert Panel and the NFCC has not been changed as a result.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Private sector blocks
Data collection
14. Once all the social housing high rise residential blocks with failed combinations of ACM
cladding and insulation had been identified, MHCLG’s attention turned to the private
sector. The department wrote out to councils at the start of September 2017 to ask them
to gather data on the number of private high rise residential buildings in their area, and in
October confirmed that gathering the data on private high rise residential buildings
represented a new burden and funding would be made available for this work. MHCLG’s
initial assessment was that the additional costs would amount to £289,000 across the
sector.
15. Although councils have made significant progress in submitting this information to
MHCLG, a number of councils are facing a series of challenges in gathering the full set
of information, in some instances because of the large number of high-rise blocks they
have in their area. Other councils have struggled to identify building owners, sometimes
as a result of tangled ownership structures involving off-shore companies ultimately
based in places like the British Virgin Islands or the Channel Islands.
16. Our discussions with MHCLG about how best to support those authorities in this position
resulted in the Director General for the Building Safety Programme at MHCLG writing to
the LGA on 1 March 2018 to announce an additional allocation of £1 million from the
government to support councils’ work. The LGA continues to work directly with councils
to assist them in gathering the data MHCLG has requested.
Legal powers
17. The other main issue that councils have raised with MHCLG are their powers to take
action where landlords do not prove co-operative. MHCLG wrote to councils in October
2017 setting out the powers they believed were available to councils under the Housing
Act 2004 and the associated Housing Health and Safety Rating System. MHCLG’s view
was that the powers in the legislation could be used in relation to external cladding
systems.
18. Although many building owners have come forward to volunteer information about their
buildings, as has already been noted identifying building owners and what type of
cladding is on a building is taking a considerable amount of time in some instances. In
the event that a building owner is not co-operative in identifying what cladding is on their
building councils will have to consider taking samples to identify what it is. Should it turn
out to be ACM cladding that needs to be removed there is also a question about what
councils can or have to do if the building owner does not organise the removal of the
cladding.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

19. As MHCLG identified, councils have powers to take action under the Housing Act and
the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, but there are risks associated with doing
so. We have therefore outlined with London Councils a number of ways that MHCLG
could minimise these risks for councils. In response MHCLG have been examining the
statutory guidance and the statutory operating directions for local authorities in their
relationship with those private sector building owners with a view to reinforcing local
authorities in carrying out this building safety related work. However progress with this
work has been delayed by changes in personnel in the relevant team in MHCLG leading
on this work.
20. If councils have the ability to take the necessary action against any building owners who
are not taking their fire safety obligations seriously, this should limit the burden on fire
and rescue services, given that the information councils have so far gathered suggests
that there are significantly more private high-rise buildings with ACM than there are
council blocks with it.
Outcomes from the programme
21. The work councils are doing around fire safety in private high-rise buildings is already
having an impact on leaseholders. A first-tier tribunal has recently ruled that it is
legitimate for building owners to recover the cost of interim fire safety measures from
leaseholders through their service charges. The mayors of Salford and Greater
Manchester had added their voices to those Members of Parliament who are highlighting
the impact on leaseholders as an issue. The LGA has been in discussion with MHCLG
officials and London Councils about what could be done where building owners pursue
leaseholders for the costs of any interim fire safety measures or remedial work to the
buildings.
Large Panel System buildings
22. After concerns were raised by residents on the Ledbury estate shortly after the Grenfell
Tower fire about cracks in the walls of the blocks, and the implications this might have for
fire safety, the London Borough of Southwark commissioned Arup in July 2017 to
investigate the cracks. Arup concluded that the cracks were actually gaps between the
concrete panels that make up the buildings, resulting from the fact the four tower blocks
were constructed using the large panel system (LPS) method and did not affect the
strength of the blocks.
23. Southwark then asked Arup to check the structure of the blocks to ensure that they could
withstand the kind of gas explosion that occurred at Ronan Point in 1968, as the Ledbury
blocks were built to the same design and had piped gas. The gas explosion in a flat in
Ronan Point had led to one corner of the building collapsing; as this resulted in much
more damage than anticipated it was termed ‘disproportionate collapse’. The structural
appraisal by Arup concluded that the blocks had not been strengthened to a standard

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

required to have piped gas, and this was cut off, pending a further, more thorough,
investigation of all four blocks.
24. Arup submitted the conclusions of their further investigations to Southwark on 20
November. This report set out the findings of a structural assessment of the blocks on
the Ledbury estate, and in particular their resistance to disproportionate collapse, their
resistance to wind loading and the durability of the concrete structure. 19 flats across the
four blocks were examined. These investigations found that:
24.1.The structure of the buildings was in good condition;
24.2.Each block met the wind loading requirements in the current building regulations;
24.3.But the blocks do not fully comply with the recommendations to prevent
disproportionate collapse in large panel system buildings set out in the 2012
guidance produced by BRE and MHCLG to update the 1968 guidance.
25. Arup therefore recommended that strengthening work to the floors, cross-walls and
connections between external panels and internal walls is undertaken to the blocks. As
carrying out the work will require tenants to be moved out of their flats, Southwark is
costing the work, and then will work with consultants and local residents to look at all the
possible options for the future of the tower blocks.
26. Issues with buildings constructed using the large panel system method have also been
identified on the Broadwater Farm estate in Haringey. Following advice from MHCLG to
local authorities after the problems had been identified on the Ledbury estate, Haringey
instructed structural engineers to examine a number of large panel system buildings with
a gas supply. Although these are low rise blocks, the engineers’ feedback was that the
blocks did not meet the standards to have gas supplies. As a precautionary measure to
enable residents remain in their homes Haringey removed all gas cookers from the
blocks, provided all affected tenants with replacement electric cookers and fitted
disruptor valves so in the event of a leak the gas supplies to the blocks is cut off,
reducing the risk of an explosion.
27. The Arup and Haringey findings may have implications for other LPS buildings, and
MHCLG and BRE are still currently considering the wider implications of the Arup report.
One possibility is that councils will have to commission structural surveys if they have not
already done so to check that the strengthening work, which should have been carried
out was actually done, and that any LPS buildings they own comply with current building
regulations and the 2012 MHCLG and BRE guidance.
Hackitt Review of building regulations and fire safety
28. In July 2017 following the fire at Grenfell Tower, the LGA called for an urgent and
immediate review of the building regulations to look at how easy they are to use,
understand and comply with. The government responded by establishing an independent

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

review led by Dame Judith Hackitt at the end of July 2017. The review was tasked with
submitting an interim report in autumn 2017 and a final report in spring 2018.
29. The terms of reference for the review identified two purposes: to make recommendations
to ensure there is a sufficiently robust regulatory system in the future; and to provide
further assurance to residents that the regulatory system is working to ensure the
buildings they live in are safe and remain so. In reaching its conclusions the review was
also asked to:
29.1.Map the current regulatory system as it applies to new and existing buildings;
29.2.Consider the competencies, duties and balance of responsibilities of key individuals
in ensuring that fire safety standards are adhered to;
29.3.Assess the theoretical coherence of the current regulatory system and how it
operates in practice;
29.4.Compare this with other international regulatory systems and regulatory systems in
other sectors with similar safety risks; and
29.5.Make recommendations that ensure the regulatory system is fit for purpose with a
particular focus on multi-occupancy high rise residential buildings.
30. The review issued a call for evidence in September 2017, and the LGA drafted a
submission, which was sent in on 13 October.
Interim Report
31. An interim report from Dame Judith Hackitt’s review was published on 18 December
2017. In it Dame Judith Hackitt set out the review’s key findings, the direction of travel as
it prepared the final report and the rationale for the proposed next steps, as well as the
mapping it had done of the current regulatory system. The review’s overall conclusion
was that “the current regulatory system is not fit for purpose in relation to high-rise and
complex buildings”. It also identified some early actions to support the review’s direction
of travel including restricting the use of desktop studies and that government should
improve the clarity of Approved Document B, which provides guidance on meeting the
fire safety requirements in the building regulations.
32. In his response to the interim report, the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities
and Local Government confirmed in December that the government accepted all of the
interim report’s recommendations. He added that MHCLG would revise the Approved
Documents on Fire Safety to clarify them and restrict the use of desktop studies, with a
new British Standard being commissioned on when and how they can be used. MHCLG
would also consider how the entire suite of Approved Documents can be restructured
and reordered to make it more user-friendly.
33. The interim report reflects many of the points made in the LGA’s submission to the
review’s call for evidence. The overarching conclusion that the current regulatory system
is not fit for purpose echoed the LGA’s view that the fire at Grenfell Tower has exposed a
Page 8

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

systemic failure. Nearly all the substantive points made in our submission were picked
up in the interim report including:
33.1.The lack of clarity in the Approved Document on Fire Safety;
33.2.The problematic interaction between individual parts of the wider suite of Approved
Documents;
33.3.The problems with product labelling, product certification and the fire safety testing
of cladding systems;
33.4.The need for specific individuals to have responsibility for ensuring a building is
constructed to the building regulations;
33.5.The impact of the competitive market in building control on standards and
inspections;
33.6.The competencies of those involved in carrying out fire risk assessments; and
33.7.The way that the Housing Act 2004 and the Fire Safety Order work separately and
together.
34. This represented a considerable lobbying success on the part of the LGA. In our initial
media response to the report’s publication we therefore welcomed it.
The review’s second phase of work
35. A formal response to the interim report was agreed by the LGA’s Grenfell Task and
Finish Group in discussion with the Lead Members from Fire Services Management
Committee, a copy of which is attached at Appendix A.
36. The second phase of the independent review’s work was launched at a summit held on
22 January. This was followed by an invitation to key stakeholders to contribute to six
working groups covering construction and design; occupation and maintenance;
regulations and guidance; competence; residents’ voice and quality assurance and
products.
37. The LGA applied for places on all six of the working groups. However we were only
offered places on two of the working groups: occupation and maintenance; and the
residents’ voice. We were also invited to participate in a sub-group to the construction
and design working group looking at procurement and supply. The National Fire Chiefs
Council were represented on all of the working groups.
38. The two working groups the LGA were represented on met several times each, and
along with other working groups their recommendations were presented to Dame Judith
Hackitt in mid-March. Since then work has been underway on completing the final report,
which we understand will be published before the end of the month, and possibly ahead
of the Fire Commission meeting. If this is the case, a verbal update on the
recommendations from the report and its implications for fire and rescue services and
councils will be given at the meeting.
Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Approved Document B consultation
39. Following on from the recommendation in the review’s interim report that the use of
desktop studies should be restricted, MHCLG launched a consultation on 11 April. This
proposes that where there is an existing standard on the use of desktop studies this is
used, and if there is not then the principles of a European standard (BS EN 15725:2010)
should be followed. To assist, the government has commissioned the British Standards
Institute to produce a standard for the use of desktop studies in relation to cladding
systems utilising results from large scale tests (BS 8414 tests). Though the consultation
seeks views on whether the use of desktop studies should be banned altogether, the
impact assessment in the consultation identifies the possibility that the proposals in the
consultation might result in the greater use of desktop studies.
40. Given the importance attached in the consultation to BS 8414 tests it is concerning that
the validity of the BS 8414 standard has been increasingly called into question recently.
BRE at the start of February issued a statement related to data from a BS 8414 test
carried out by Celotex at BRE in 2014 on one of their polyisocyanurate insulation
products that was used on Grenfell Tower. BRE had been notified by Celotex that on
reviewing the test results Celotex had identified anomalies between their design
specification for the cladding system to be tested and the actual cladding system they
installed to be tested. As BRE understood that the test system had not been constructed
to Celotex’s design specification, the test results were withdrawn.
41. Additionally at the end of January Sky News reported claims by one major building
insulation manufacturer that another building insulation manufacturer had ‘influenced’ the
full scale fire safety tests carried out by MHCLG over July and August 2017 by placing
fire barriers over the thermometers measuring the heat generated by the fire. The
manufacturer involved in conducting the tests said the placement of the fire barriers had
been copied from previous tests, that they showed the fire performance of ACM cladding
was the key factor in the fire safety performance of any cladding system.
42. Recent work by the Association of British Insurers and the Fire Protection Association
has also questioned how representative the BS 8414 tests are of real world fire
conditions, and they led further calls for reform of the testing regime. Given these new
concerns and the LGA’s previously expressed worry in our submission to the Hackitt
review in October that the way cladding systems are installed on building sites never
replicates how systems are installed for BS 8414, the LGA has called for a complete ban
on the use of desktop studies and for only non-combustible material to be used on
complex and high-rise buildings. These points will be made in the LGA’s response to the
consultation.

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Implications for Wales
43. Building regulations are a devolved responsibility of the Welsh Assembly Government,
and the main implications from the LGA’s work and that of the review of building
regulations and fire safety are on high-rise buildings in England, though the Welsh
government is likely to take account of the review’s recommendations.
Financial Implications
44. The LGA’s work in response to Grenfell Tower continues to be intensive, however it has
been met so far from existing resources.
Next steps
45. Members are asked to:
45.1.Note and comment on central and local government’s actions to improve fire safety
in high-rise buildings, and the LGA’s work in relation to this; and
45.2.Discuss the final recommendations of Dame Judith Hackitt’s review of building
regulations and fire safety if these are published ahead of the Fire Commission
meeting.
46. Officers will use members’ discussion and comments to inform the LGA’s on-going work
in relation to fire safety in high-rise buildings and its response to the final
recommendations of the building regulations and fire safety review.

Page 11

Agenda Item 2a

Dame Judith Hackitt DBE FREng,
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety,
3rd Floor Fry,
Building 2,
Marsham Street,
London. SW1P 4DF

Dear Dame Judith,
Interim report
I am writing on behalf of the Local Government Association (LGA) to respond to the findings and
direction of travel you set out in your interim report.
Before getting into the detail, I want to say how impressed we are with the speed with which you
and your team have produced a clear and concise, but also comprehensive report on a very
complex regulatory system.
Differentiated approach to risk
The LGA agrees with the great majority of your findings to date, the direction of travel you set out
and your recommendations. In particular we agree that the current regulatory system for high rise
and complex buildings is not fit for purpose, and needs to be fully overhauled to address the wideranging issues inherent to the model. We were also pleased to see a paragraph emphasising the
importance of widening the scope of the review to cover complex and high risk buildings. It would
seem deficient not to grasp the opportunity to protect people in all high-rise and complex buildings
in which they live and work.
We support your ambition of designing a revised regulatory system which is simpler, clearer and
delivers better building safety outcomes. We also agree that there needs to be a differentiated
approach to risk in the regulatory system, with there being a proportionate approach to the greater
fire safety risks associated with high-rise and complex buildings.
In addition we strongly agree with you that we need a significant shift in culture, behaviour and
practice around the construction, operation and maintenance of high-rise and complex buildings.
If we are to achieve that aim, we believe certain elements of your proposals need special
emphasis. The LGA would single out the need for easily identifiable individuals with responsibility
for building and fire safety, greater clarity in the inspection and enforcement regime, and heavier
penalties for breaches of the regulations. We would also support a debate about how we ensure
new methods of improving building safety can be used to upgrade and improve existing buildings.
Clarity of roles and responsibilities
As the interim report highlights, there is a lack of clarity around roles and responsibilities in the
current system. It is vital therefore that there are easily identifiable dutyholders with responsibility
for ensuring compliance with the building regulations and fire safety measures, both during
construction and throughout the lifetime of the building. There need to be individuals who can

Page 13
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk
Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd

Agenda Item 2a

readily be held to account for any failures or breaches who have an interest in changing culture
and behaviour to bring about the necessary paradigm shift.
A requirement to have a clerk of works to act as a gatekeeper for quality assurance is mentioned
in your report. We would emphasise the importance of such a role to oversee construction and
refurbishment works, ensuring the quality of construction and materials. Further, a clear
responsibility on those who commission and design work to ensure a building is fit for purpose
would seem essential to bring about the required change.
Ensuring compliance through inspection and enforcement
Having people with clearly identifiable roles and responsibilities who can be easily held to
account, will only drive cultural and behaviour change if there is also a robust inspection and
enforcement regime. As the interim report notes, a key issue is that work can commence on
buildings without the plans being approved by building control. Preventing work on site (as in
Scotland) until approval has been given would strengthen the enforcement regime. In addition,
there are also issues with the information that councils receive from approved inspectors about
buildings they have inspected. Going forward we need to ensure that approved inspectors have
an obligation to provide local authority building control, as the building control enforcement body,
with all the necessary information on buildings they have inspected.
There are also a number of other weaknesses in the current regime to ensure building and fire
safety standards are being complied with post-construction. At the heart of these problems is the
fact that neither the Housing Act, and the housing health and safety rating system (HHSRS) it
creates, nor the Fire Safety Order, were designed to deal with significant building and fire safety
problems resulting from modifications, alterations or changes to the fabric of a building. The
problematic interaction between these pieces of legislation and regulation must be addressed.
This should include examining and rectifying the ambiguity over responsibilities for inspection, the
lack of certainty in key definitions, the question of whether flammable cladding can ever constitute
a Category 1 hazard under the HHSRS, and the absence of powers to deal consistently with
breaches of building or fire safety standards irrespective of the type of tenure that might be found
in one block. It would be a significant failure if at the end of the review’s work there were no
recommendations that ensured, for example, that action can be taken against residents who
cause fire hazards within their own homes.
One final point on building and fire safety inspections is that there is a vast array of differing
complexities among buildings. This means that inspectors must demonstrate hugely varying
levels of knowledge. While a universal standard should certainly be applied to inspectors across
the board i.e. fire authorities, approved inspectors, or from local authority building control, it would
be prudent to offer different levels of expertise within such a framework. Local Authority Building
Control (LABC) have recently developed and commissioned their ISO accreditation framework
which promises to enshrine a single set of consistent national standards. In discussion with a
LABC they have also suggested that their framework would cater for the different levels of
expertise needed among building inspectors to serve these varying building complexities. As such
we would encourage the review to investigate this as a possibility.
Product testing and accrediting

Page 14

Agenda Item 2a

As the immediate national response to the Grenfell Tower fire highlighted, inspection and
enforcement would be made significantly easier if there were a robust independent process to test
and accredit products, with appropriate testing and accreditation marks visible on products.
Aluminium composite panels on tower blocks had to be subjected to screening tests to confirm
what sort of panel they were because this was not possible by visual inspection. Product
certification is not clear and transparent about what particular type of product meets which
particular standard, meaning the wrong material could be specified and installed in error.
Over the last week a number of concerns about the full scale tests using the BS 8414 standard
have called into question how well it can gauge the fire risks associated with particular cladding
systems, and in our view there is an urgent need to evaluate whether it continues to be fit for
purpose, and an alternative test needs to be developed. This is a clear area of concern; if product
fire tests cannot be relied upon, it brings into question the validity of other recommendations of the
building regulations review.
Sanctions
Addressing the above points over clear lines of responsibility and unambiguous legislation will go
some way towards changing the culture in the construction sector. To create a robust system
though, those who breach building and safety regulations must be prosecuted if we are to
successfully encourage people to recognise the importance of building and fire safety regulations.
A number of issues need to be addressed. The reductions in the size of councils’ building control
and legal teams limits their capacity to take enforcement action. At the same time the competitive
market in building control means a prosecution could result in an existing or potential client using
an approved inspector in the future. Too often the level of fine and cost awards in the case of a
successful prosecution still leave offenders better off than if they had not breached the building or
fire safety requirements, and do not cover the costs incurred by the council in bringing the case.
Upgrading and improving existing buildings
The interim report states that consideration should be given to what is reasonable and practicable
to do to upgrade and improve the fire safety of existing facilities throughout their lifespan. The
LGA supports the idea that existing buildings should be upgraded as near as practicably possible
to the latest fire safety standards. There are obviously a range of practical considerations in how
this process would work, including how judgements are reached about what is reasonable and
practicable to do, and we are keen to contribute to that process.
Resources
A consistent element across all these changes in the current regulatory system is the need for the
proper resourcing of those involved in inspecting and enforcing against the building and fire safety
regulations. Unless the changes that the review advocates are properly resourced, councils and
fire and rescue services will be unable to play their role in delivering the cultural and behavioural
change needed across the construction sector.
Compartmentation
One area we would welcome greater clarity on is the section in the interim report on
compartmentation in buildings. We understand the review has drawn on the experience of other
industries where there is an emphasis on creating barriers to minimise the risk of accidents, and a
range of measures to ensure that if something does go wrong, the impact of that event is

Page 15

Agenda Item 2a

minimised. The interim report is right that breaches in compartmentation can have a serious
impact on the safety of a building.
While other fire protection measures can protect against breaches in compartmentation we would
be reluctant to move away from a position where compartmentation is the first line of defence
against a fire. The ‘stay put’ policy allows firefighters to move through a building to fight a fire
without having to deal with residents evacuating simultaneously in large numbers. A change to it
may not only make fighting a fire more difficult, but may also place lives at greater risk where
there are limited exit routes from a building due to panicked residents being crushed together. We
believe that any recommendations in this area need to be developed in conjunction with
professional advice from fire and rescue services.
Timetable for implementation of the review’s recommendations
When the final report is being written we believe it should set a clear timetable for implementation
of its recommendations. As has already been pointed out to the review team a number of the
recommendations from the coroner’s inquest into the Lakanal House fire have yet to be
implemented, and we would not want to see the sense of urgency to change the currently
regulatory system lost, and the recommendations from the review never fully implemented.
Finally, you have kindly invited the LGA to participate in three of the working groups being
established to take forward the next phase of the review. We would ask that in the interest of
transparency, the membership of the working groups be made publically available.
Thank you for your consideration of these comments. We look forward to working closely with you
in the immediate future.
Yours sincerely,

Cllr Paul Carter CBE,
Chair, LGA’s Grenfell Tower Task and Finish Group

Page 16

Agenda Item 3

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Nick Hurd MP - Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service

Purpose
For discussion.

Summary
Nick Hurd MP, the Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service will attend the Fire
Commission meeting.

Recommendation
The meeting will provide an opportunity for Fire Commission members to discuss the
Minister’s priorities for the fire reform programme going forward.
Action
Officers to progress as directed.

Contact officer:

Lucy Ellender

Position:

Adviser

Phone no:

020 7664 3321

Email:

lucy.ellender@local.gov.uk

Page 17

Agenda Item 3

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Nick Hurd MP - Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service
Background
1. Nick Hurd has been Minister of State at the Home Office since his appointment on 12
June 2017.
Biography
2. Nick Hurd MP has been the member for Ruislip Northwood since 2005. He was
appointed as the Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service for the Home Office in
2017. Prior to this, he was the Minister of State for Climate Change and Industry from
2016 until 2017. He has previously been the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for
the Department for International Development and Parliamentary Secretary in the
Cabinet Office. In 2007, he held the position of Opposition Whip.
3. He has been a member of the Environmental Audit Committee and the Petitions
Committee, as well as the Joint Committee on the Draft Climate Change Bill in 2007. Mr
Hurd established an early track record in the field of community activity. In 2006, he
came top of the ballot for Private Members' Bills, and adopted a Bill drafted by
community and environment groups to promote localism in decision-making and public
spending. It became law as the Sustainable Communities Act in 2007.
4. In his non-parliamentary career, Mr Hurd has worked as a business director and banker.
Fire Report Program
5. The previous Government set out their fire reform agenda under three key pillars:
5.1. Accountability and transparency – including the introduction of a new inspectorate,
the opportunity for Police and Crime Commissioners to take on the governance of
the fire and rescue service, and further data transparency.
5.2. Efficiency and Collaboration – including better and more joined up procurement and
collaboration agreements between the emergency services.
5.3. Workforce reform to – including a new standards body and an expectation of a more
diverse firefighter workforce.
Implications for Wales
6. Fire and rescue services and the promotion of fire safety is a devolved issue.
Financial Implications

Page 18

Agenda Item 3

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

7. There are no financial implications from this report.
Next steps
8. Members are asked to discuss the Minister’s priorities for the fire reform programme.

Page 19

Agenda Item 4

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

NFCC Central Programme Office overview

Purpose of report
For information.

Summary
This report sets out how the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) is now managing and
delivering projects and programmes through a new organisation called the Central
Programme Office. This builds on the programme approach that led to the successful
delivery of National Operational Guidance (NOG) for the fire and rescue service.

Recommendation
Fire Commission members are asked to note the new arrangements for managing and
delivering programmes and projects by the NFCC Central Programme Office (CPO).
Action
For information.

Contact officer:

Lucy Ellender

Position:

Adviser, Policy - People

Phone no:

02076643321

Email:

Lucy.Ellender@local.gov.uk

Page 21

Agenda Item 4

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

NFCC Central Programme Office overview
Background
1. Fire and Rescue Authorities across the UK and the Home Office agreed to fund the NOG
programme. After six years, the result is the creation of a suite of 21 pieces of guidance,
22 training specifications and 27 scenarios covering the whole range of operational
activity. The programme completed its work in March 2018.
2. During the last year of the programme, the NFCC explored options for maintaining the
guidance and using this programme management expertise in other areas of fire and
rescue services business. In particular, this work looked at how to take a programmatic
approach to delivering the objectives of the NFCC as set out in its strategy. The result is
the creation of the Central Programme Office launched on 1 April 2018.

About the CPO
3. The CPO provides programme, project and benefits management services to the fire and
rescue sector. It forms one of the three hubs supporting the delivery of the National Fire
Chiefs Council's strategy. The other two hubs focus on national resilience (Merseyside
FRS) and support services (WMFS).
4. In a new departure for the fire and rescue service, the CPO will use portfolio
management techniques to assist in the selection, prioritisation, control and delivery of
programmes and projects in line with its strategic objectives and capacity to deliver.
5. The CPO is located at London Fire Brigade's HQ and many members of the NOG
Programme team now work for it. Like NOG, the CPO will be a place where staff from
fire and rescue services are encouraged to work on secondment, gaining valuable
experience of working at a national level.
6. In order for the CPO to be effective, it will work in the following way:
6.1.1. Develop its work through collaborative programmes and projects that draw on the
best available expertise.
6.1.2. Maintain what has been produced and respond to change to ensure it remains of
the highest quality and is accessible to all who need to use it.

Page 22

Agenda Item 4

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

6.1.3. Demonstrate the effectiveness of all products and take proactive action to
encourage their use.
6.1.4. Support the involvement of all stakeholders in making decisions about our work
and assure them about the quality of the whole portfolio.
Deliverables
7. From the start, the CPO will provide a home for the continued maintenance of NOG. It
will be a business as usual activity and include the continued development of national
operational learning.
8. There will be a new system of regular review meaning that every piece of guidance will
be considered to see whether it needs to be updated. There will also be key influencers
such as the outcome of inspections. Taking both a proactive and reactive approach like
this will ensure that the guidance and the associated training specifications keep pace
with change over time.
9. The work of the CPO will focus initially on three areas of the NFCC’s strategy:
9.1.1. Community Risk
9.1.2. People
9.1.3. Digital
10. CFO Phil Loach from West Midlands Fire Service leads the Community Risk
Programme. Risk management, like many areas of fire and rescue service performance,
is difficult to benchmark and compare performance. This programme will produce, as
one of its outputs, a clear definition of risk that would allow communities to hold the
performance of their fire and rescue service to account.
11. The second programme of work is focused on the People Programme, led by the Chief
Executive of Kent Fire and Rescue Service, Ann Millington. It will cover areas like
firefighter recruitment, mental health and wellbeing.
12. Of the three programmes, the Digital programme is the least developed. It will look at
readying the service for a digital future optimizing the opportunities from developments
such as smart buildings, driverless vehicles and robotics.
Professional Standards
13. An element of the Government’s fire reform programme was the creation of professional
standards. The Minister for Policing and the Fire Service is currently considering a
proposal by the sector-led Professional Standards Project Board to establish a delivery

Page 23

Agenda Item 4

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

mechanism to produce these standards which involves the CPO. A decision is expected
imminently and details will be shared as soon as possible.
Governance
14. The NFCC Council will provide strategic direction to the CPO, ensuring that the
development and delivery of products from the CPO are in line with the NFCC strategy.

Stakeholder engagement

Page 24

Agenda Item 4

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

15. The CPO work programme will rely on continued engagement and consultation, as
appropriate, from across the sector. This collaborative approach worked well for NOG
and will continue under CPO. For each project within the proposed programmes, the
stakeholders that need to be involved will be identified from both inside and outside of
the sector.
16. In addition, a sector wide Engagement Forum (EF) will be created. The EF will be
chaired by the NFCC and will not have a decision-making role. Its purpose is to support
the CPO by providing a wide range of views about the programmes. Representative
bodies, fire sector organisations and appropriate private sector organisations will all be
invited to become members of the EF.
Implications for Wales
17. The work of the CPO applies to Wales as well as Scotland and Northern Ireland.

Financial implication
18. There are no new burdens to Fire and Rescue Authorities as a result of this work as
existing financial arrangements for the development of guidance still apply.
Next steps
19. The first six months of the CPO will necessarily involve setting up new programmes and
the arrangements needed to make them successful, including any involvement in
professional standards
20. Updates on the work of the programme will be made available as required to future
meetings of the Commission.

Page 25

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Diversity and Inclusion

Purpose of report
For discussion.

Summary
This report outlines the work that the LGA has been doing since the publication of the
memorandum of understanding on Equality, diversity, behaviours and organisational culture
in the fire and rescue service (MoU) and the findings from the LGA’s recent Diversity
Summit.

Recommendation
That the Fire Commission approves the next steps set out in paragraph 12.

Action
Officers will undertake the actions as outlined in the next steps.

Contact officer:

Charles Loft

Position:

Senior Adviser

Phone no:

020 7664 3874

Email:

charles.loft@local.gov.uk

Page 27

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Diversity and Inclusion
Background
1. In January 2017 the LGA published a memorandum of understanding on Equality,
diversity, behaviours and organisational culture in the fire and rescue service (MoU).
2. The MoU was co-signed by the Asian Fire Service Association (AFSA), National Fire
Chiefs Council (NFCC), Fire Brigades Union (FBU), Fire Officer’s Association, GMB,
quiltbag, Retained Firefighters Union (RFU), Stonewall, Unison and Women in the Fire
Service.
3. The MoU contained a number of commitments and principles for the LGA and the other
signatories to uphold. As a part of its commitments in the MoU the LGA held a Summit
with the other signatories in April 2018. The aim of the Summit was to understand
progress on embedding diversity and inclusion since the MoU was published, any
challenges that remained as well as provide suggestions for further work on this issue.
LGA work on inclusion and diversity
4. The LGA’s commitment under the MoU was largely to promote specific activities in
relation to diversity and inclusion. This has been fulfilled to date by publishing the MoU,
and the LGA fire conference publication on an inclusive service in 2017,1 a letter from
Fire Service Management Committee (FSMC) lead members to Fire Commission
members in March 2017, promoting both the publication and the measures in the MoU,
two fire leadership essentials courses with a new session on inclusion and diversity and
a masterclass on inclusion for fire authority members, which was held at Layden House
in September 2017. For the 2018 LGA Fire Conference we produced a set of case
studies on recruitment and inclusion, attached at Appendix A. We also published the
Fire Vision 2024 which set out a number of ambitions on increasing diversity in the fire
and rescue service, including the below:
4.1. Set individual organisational goals for BAME recruitment reflective of their own
working population and use this data to direct and guide any positive action.
4.2. Seek to increase the rate of female firefighter recruitment to 30 per cent nationally
by 2024/5.

1

An inclusive service - The twenty-first century fire and rescue service (https://www.local.gov.uk/inclusive-

service-twenty-first-century-fire-and-rescue-service).

Page 28

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

5. The document is available on the LGA’s website: https://local.gov.uk/fire-vision-2024
6. The MoU committed the LGA to working to evaluate progress. However, the volume of
work generated by the Grenfell fire, both for the LGA and fire and rescue services
(FRSs), meant this did not take place in late 2017 as planned. Holding a Summit with the
signatories of the MoU was agreed as an alternative by the FSMC in January.
7. At the same meeting it was agreed that a member champion should be nominated.
8. All signatories were invited to the Summit, and given the opportunity to submit written
comments if they could not attend. We had contributions from the FBU, AFSA, Women in
the Fire Service, Unison, the RFU and the Fire Officer’s Association. The NJC’s Inclusive
Fire Service Group (IFSG) also outlined the work that they have been undertaking to
embed the group’s improvement strategies.
Issues from the Summit
9. The Summit covered a range of issues including the work of the LGA, the NJC’s
Inclusive Fire Service Group and that of attendees. It provided an opportunity to discuss
inclusion and diversity more generally as well as raise issues with the LGA for future
work. A number of issues for further consideration and work were raised at the Summit.
9.1. Attendees agreed that to drive change and improve inclusion and diversity buy-in
from the political leadership of the sector was the key contribution the LGA could
make to delivering a more diverse workforce. Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA)
members’ leadership role can help to set the tone for change. It was not clear that all
FRA members have bought into diversity and inclusion and more needed to be done
to correct this impression. The IFSG had recognised this and emphasised the need
for visible senior management and elected member buy-in and support in its
improvement strategies. It now holds a record of the lead in each case within
virtually all FRAs/FRSs.
9.2. Creating an inclusive culture more generally would create a more conducive
environment for change.
9.3. There were still issues with a lack of appropriate equipment and facilities for women.
9.4. There was a divide between operational staff, who are predominately men, and
‘support’ staff, who are predominantly women. It was reported that this had left
women in non-uniformed roles feeling that their contributions were not recognised in
the same way as operational staff, it was also reported that there had been bullying
by uniformed on non-uniformed staff. The idea that ‘balancing’ male-dominated firefighting staff with predominantly female ‘support’ staff addresses gender imbalances
in the workforce needs to be challenged, it was argued. Having a predominantly
female ‘support’ workforce can in fact do no more than reinforce the gender
Page 29

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

stereotypes the service needs to remove if it is to modernise. At the same time the
LGA could do more to make non-firefighters in the FRS feel valued and part of the
service.
9.5. Leavers’ statistics were not collected or published by the Home Office in a similar
way to joiners’ statistics. This could mean that leaving patterns for groups with
protected characteristics were not being captured at a national level.
9.6. It was noted that the use of the term “fireman” was still common in the media etc
though the #firefightingsexism campaign had started to make some progress on
changing this.
9.7. Following the publication of the gender pay gap data on the Government’s website
there were comments that breaking gender pay gap data down between uniformed
and non-uniformed might be helpful.
9.8. There is a lack of women moving into middle management. Talent management
strategies can be used to address this. The Inclusive Fire Service Group has already
identified this as an issue and addressed it in the improvement strategies it had
developed for FRAs – fair, transparent and consistently applied promotion
processes should be in place and staff aware of them, FRSs should develop support
networks and meaningful mentor/coaching programmes, talent spotting and
leadership training, and provide opportunities for development such as job swaps,
taster weeks and acting-up/temporary promotion (so that an individual can
experience the higher role). The strategies are well supported and improvement
should be delivered as a consequence. There may be scope for more to be done by
the LGA to support the improvement strategy on talent management.
9.9. A focus on only increasing recruitment among women and ethnic minorities without
education and other cultural changes can simply lead to more casework for unions
and poor retention rates.
9.10.Unconscious bias training should be focussed on those making decisions on
recruitment and HR, as the group felt that this is where it can have the most impact.
9.11.Matters relating to fitness standards can be an issue. More emphasis needs to be
placed on the fact that firefighters do not have to be big men.
9.12.Early experience with the inspection system in one pilot suggested more work is
required if inspection is to drive inclusion. There was some uncertainty about if the
right people were being spoken to during the inspection on diversity issues as they
did not necessarily sit with HR.

Page 30

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

9.13.The sector needs to emphasise that it wants a more diverse workforce because it
wants good people.
9.14.The need for evaluation was stressed. The IFSG had issued improvement
strategies on inclusion. Time needs to be allowed for the strategies to bed down in
order that any improvement can be identified. It is the current intention of the group
to undertake a monitoring exercise in July. The group wished to consult FRSs on
the best way to gather the information and had intended to do so some months ago.
However, it also believes that organisations should work to reduce the survey
burden on FRSs if possible and avoid asking similar questions at different times in
the year. Hence it was endeavouring to first reach a consensus with others to
discuss the needs of all and ideally share data where there was a common interest
to avoid those multiple requests. Whilst that objective is still being pursued it cannot
continue to await an outcome and must now move forward with its own monitoring
role.
Implications for Wales
10. As responsibility for fire and rescue policy is a devolved matter, the work set out in the
report will be limited to English Fire and Rescue Authorities. The IFSG is a UK-wide body
as it is led by the NJC, therefore the improvement strategies apply across the UK,
including Wales.
Financial Implications
11. Further work can be undertaken within existing budgets.
Next steps
12. The proposed next steps for this work are to:
12.1.Undertake a series of regional leadership events for members of FRAs to provide
training, case studies and networking with other councillors on issues around
equality and diversity. These would be held in in the political year 2018-19.
12.2.Continue to promote the MoU and the behaviours within it.
12.3.Lobby the Home Office on collecting and publishing data from those leaving the
service to help identify any patterns in behaviour from those with protected
characteristics.
12.4.Continue to support the IFSG, including inviting Linda Dickens, the Independent
chair of the IFSG to FSMC to see how else the LGA could help to drive forwards
change.
12.5.Identify a member champion on the FSMC for inclusion.

Page 31

Agenda Item 5

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

12.6.Invite London Fire Brigade to an FSMC meeting to hear from them about their
recruitment journey and any lessons learned from their last round of recruitment.

Page 32

Agenda Item 5a

An inclusive
fire service
Recruitment
and inclusion

Case studies

Page 33

Agenda Item 5a

2

Page 34

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a

Foreword

At the start of last year the Local Government
Association (LGA) published a memorandum
of understanding (MoU)1 on equality, diversity,
behaviours and organisational culture in
the fire service, co-signed by the Asian Fire
Service Association, National Fire Chiefs
Council, Fire Brigades Union, Fire Officers’
Association, GMB, quiltbag, Retained
Firefighters Union, Stonewall, Unison and
Women in the Fire Service.

In addition, the LGA and NFCC have been
involved in work, led by the Home Office, on a
forthcoming campaign around the image of the
firefighter, following research that suggested this
deterred a more diverse range of applicants.
The campaign material will include a bootcamp/
fitness guide explaining the type of exercises
which a potential recruit might undertake to
increase their fitness, a role models document
and a myth buster document.

The MoU was a recognition that the fire
service had to change.

The LGA has also been involved in helping
to shape the new inspection regime – again
alongside the NFCC. We have sought to
ensure that our diversity and inclusion
ambitions are reflected in the judgement
criteria, out for consultation at the time
of writing, and that these values will be
embedded in the changes to our refreshed
peer support offer that will sit alongside the
new inspection system.

The existing firefighter workforce was just five
per cent female and overwhelmingly white.
For the first time in five or more years services
were looking to recruit new firefighters and the
Fire Services Management Committee (FSMC)
was determined to ensure that this round of
recruitment would leave the fire service looking
more like the communities it serves.
We have a very long way to go to achieve
this, but National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC)
monitoring has shown that we are making
progress.
The FSMC is determined to see this
improvement continue.
Since publishing the MoU and publicising it to
the membership of the Fire Commission, we
have promoted its values; through last year’s
conference publication ‘An inclusive service:–
The twenty-first century fire and rescue
service’,2 two fire leadership essentials
courses and a masterclass on inclusion for
fire authority members.
1
2

www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
memorandum-understanding-f0f.pdf
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.5%20
final%20An%20Inclusive%20Service%20-%20Twenty%20
first%20century%20FRS_web.pdf

Page 35

The MoU recognised the key role of the
Inclusive Fire Services Group (IFSG) in
taking the inclusion agenda forward. The
IFSG is independently chaired by Professor
Linda Dickens and includes employer and
employee representation from the National
Joint Council for Local Authority Fire and
Rescue Services (NJC) and NFCC, the Fire
Brigades Union, the Fire Officers Association
and the Retained Firefighters Union. On 5
June the IFSG contacted all chief fire officers,
chief executives and clerks to fire authorities,
chairs of fire authorities and fire and rescue
authority directors of HR, enclosing a number
of improvement strategies and asking them
‘to consider the strategies suggested at
both member and officer levels, how they
can be taken forward in individual services,
and provide a response by 28 July 2017’. An
update on this work is provided on page 24.

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

3

Agenda Item 5a
We are determined to be a service that
reflects the communities it serves. Fire Vision
2024, published alongside this collection
of case studies and owned by the Fire
Commission, sets a challenging new target
to increase the rate of female firefighter
recruitment to 30 per cent nationally by
2024/5, while individual fire services should
reflect the ethnic diversity of the community
they serve in both frontline staff and staff as
a whole – proportions that should be mirrored
in senior positions.
We know that these targets will not be easy to
achieve. We will be inviting signatories to the
MoU to attend a summit this spring to review
progress against the MoU’s commitments and
discuss future initiatives.
As the case studies in this document show,
much is being done to ensure the current
round of recruitment increases the extent
to which we represent the communities we
serve. I hope you find them inspiring. They
are early stages in a long journey.

Councillor Ian Stephens
Chair, Fire Services Management Committee
(FSMC)

4

Page 36

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a

Contents

Gloucestershire Fire And Rescue Service

6

Humberside Fire and Rescue Service

8

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service

10

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service

12

Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service

14

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service

16

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service

18

Kent Fire and Rescue Service

20

London Fire Brigade

22

Inclusive Fire Service Group

24

Page 37

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

5

Agenda Item 5a

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
A new recruitment and selection strategy at
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service that
emphasises candidates’ personal strengths
and values, rather than focussing narrowly on
physical strength, has yielded a diverse group
of 15 future firefighters, eight of them female.
The process began with a review of
the National Firefighters’ Selection Test,
introduced in 2006 and still used across the
country, which Gloucestershire had come
to regard as outdated. Guidance for the test
says it is ‘designed to reflect operational
practices’ – only one aspect of the modern
firefighters role.
Mark Astle, Gloucestershire Fire and
Rescue Service’s Head of Personnel and
Organisational Development, explained:
“Within the tests there is little about personal
attitude, behaviours or values. So we decided
to write our own evaluation process”.
Before the new selection strategy came
in to operation, Gloucestershire began to
lay positive foundations by using current
firefighters as role models. Firefighters from
underrepresented groups went out to engage
with the community, including colleges
and universities, with the aim of educating
parents, as much as children, about career
progression and opportunities within the
fire service. According to Mark, “it is only
possible to attract a diverse workforce if
you portray a diverse workforce”.
After feedback revealed that many women
thought they were not strong enough to
become firefighters, a series of ‘have-ago’ days both at the station and out in the
community looked to bust this myth. The
events explained the diversity of a modern
firefighter’s role, with the increased focus on
prevention, protection and supporting local
health service initiatives.

6

A traditional media campaign alongside social
media was led and run by the new generation
of firefighters. It included biographies from
existing members of staff, such as a mother
of two who talked candidly about how she
had “never imagined she would become a
firefighter, but look at me now!”
Candidates were encouraged to
#Buildyourfuture with Gloucestershire
Fire and Rescue Service and a sense of
anticipation and excitement was created
with an online countdown to the closing
date. Tweets outlining the role of a modern
firefighter and the positive development culture
within Gloucestershire were used to entice
applicants. This led to 700 inquiries, with 450
applications completed and progressing to
the next stage.
Initial applications were assessed by a team
of six, who scored the same one question
in each application to avoid bias or varying
approaches to responses.
Some 160 candidates were invited to an
evaluation day, which was facilitated by
members of Gloucestershire’s award
winning Inclusive Network Group. The group,
comprised of staff members from across
the organisation, takes an active role in its
development and produced their core values,
which formed the basis of the marking criteria
on the evaluation day.
In the past, the traditional selection day had
mainly assessed applicants’ physical strength
and manual dexterity. Under the new selection
strategy of ‘recruiting for values and train
for skills’, candidates instead completed a
new mental agility test, took part in a group
discussion and worked together to come up
with a group presentation on a safety topic of
their choice.

Page 38

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
At this point, candidates also underwent a
breathing apparatus phobic test and a height
test – the two elements of a candidate’s
makeup that the fire service cannot alter or
train someone in.
“Throughout the process we endeavoured to
ensure a positive candidate experience that
provided opportunities to really demonstrate
their personal strengths and values” said
Mark. “We didn’t have officers marching
around trying to deselect people, we aimed
to get the best out of individuals, creating an
environment for them to demonstrate their
finest qualities.”
Every facilitator involved in all aspects of
selection underwent unconscious bias
training beforehand and every effort
was made to ensure the facilitators were
representative of the group being evaluated.
The next stage was a fitness test, which led
to the final 65 candidates for interview. “We
haven’t reduced fitness requirements, and
putting the physical testing at the end of
the process concerned some people” said
Mark. “But we take the view that if we had the
perfect candidate but they weren’t quite fit
enough, we will invest in them to make them
fit, ensuring that by the time they start as a
firefighter, they are fully fit to carry out the
role. We can train for fitness, but you can’t
always train the right values, behaviours and
qualities.”
According to Mark, fire service recruitment
and selection needs to change to fit the
requirements of a modern service.
Councillor Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for
Fire, Planning and Infrastructure said “I am
delighted to see that Gloucestershire Fire
and Rescue Service’s innovative approach to
recruitment has not only generated a group
of firefighters with the right personal strengths
and values, but also produced a group that is
representative of our communities”.

Page 39

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

7

Agenda Item 5a

Humberside Fire and Rescue Service
As the first fire service internationally to
sign up to a United Nations movement to
advance gender equality, Humberside Fire
and Rescue Service is taking action to
support women and igniting interest in the
movement elsewhere.
The UN’s HeForShe movement aims to
galvanise support from men, as well as
women, for gender equality.
Miriam Heppell, Humberside Fire and Rescue
Service’s Director of Human Resources
said: “The basic premise of HeForShe
is that equality of the genders is not a
woman’s issue, it is a human rights issue.
We discovered that no other fire services
internationally had joined the movement, so
we decided that we would be the first”.
As part of putting its name to the
movement, Humberside has made two main
commitments; to recruit more women through
a better understanding of why women are
reluctant to apply to the fire service generally
and to improve the experience of women that
work for Humberside, including supporting
better career progression.
Humberside has commissioned research
from the University of Hull to explore why
the fire service has struggled with female
recruitment. In 2017, a Humberside
recruitment movement aimed at filling
20 firefighter places generated 2,000
applications. Only 17 per cent of
applicants were women, however, and
very few of these demonstrated the
fitness and strength capabilities that
are part of the selection process.

8

Miriam explained: “We undertake many
activities to attract female applicants; we
run positive action activities; we are looking
at apprenticeships and designing a cadet
scheme, to reach school age women and
encourage them early to see the fire service
as a career; we run bootcamps; we are
talking to athletic women who play in football
and rugby teams and who go to the gym to
try to encourage them to consider the fire
service. We are doing all that work and some
of it is going to have some benefit. But to be
more effective than this scatter gun approach,
we need to fundamentally understand why
women are not applying”.
As part of the celebrations for International
Women’s Day 2017, a HeforShe workshop
was held early in 2017 to which various
men from across the service were invited.
Participants took part in exercises to trigger
thinking about gender and equality. The
impact on some of the attendees was
profound.
“Some of them walked out of the room in
tears saying: ‘I’m married with two daughters
and I never realised the disadvantages the
women in my life would come up against’”
said Miriam.
Allied to this work to ensure women have a
positive experience within the fire service
and progress through it, is the development
of a core skills framework. This has involved
exploring what skills are necessary and
desirable across the board, not just in terms
of firefighter competency, but in terms of what
are often labelled ‘softer skills’, such as good
communication, awareness of mental health
and an understanding of equality issues.

Page 40

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
Everyone in the service, regardless of their
job, will be expected to have this set of core
skills and a training programme will be rolled
out to support the aim.
Female staff are also being encouraged to
become involved with the Women in the Fire
Service network. Funding is being provided
for 15 women to attend its annual training and
development weekend in June. Humberside
will also host a regional pilot for a women’s
development programme, focusing on
elements such as assertiveness, leadership
skills and building confidence.

I am proud that we are committed to increase
the numbers of both women applying for,
and being recruited to, firefighter posts in
this service and we intend to improve the
engagement experience, development and
promotion opportunities of and for women in
our workforce.
I have no hesitation in commending
the principles of HeForShe to all other
organisations. We’re counted in, now it’s
your turn to join us.”
More information can be found on the
HeForShe website: www.heforshe.org/en

Humberside has now become a HeForShe
advocate, encouraging other fire services and
organisations around the country to sign up
to it. As part of that work, presentations have
been made to the National Fire Chiefs Council
and Yorkshire and Humberside Employers
Association. Other fire services are now
approaching Humberside for advice on how
to become involved.
“It is spreading and that was our aim all
along” said Miriam, “to ignite some fire behind
it and get people on board.”
Councillor John Briggs, Chair of Humberside
Fire and Rescue Authority said: “I am
delighted to add my name to the list of those
being ‘counted in’ to the HeForShe pledge
and what is particularly pleasing is to be a
member of the first fire and rescue service in
the UK to do so.
We intend to make gender equality part of the
fabric of our service. We are not interested in
tokenism, this decision of ours will not be put
in a drawer and forgotten about.

Page 41

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

9

Agenda Item 5a

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service
When West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service
found that some promising new recruits
from underrepresented groups were initially
unsuccessful in its selection tests, it devised
the ’nearly there’ initiative to give them the
support and encouragement to try again.
The fire service’s first recruitment drive in
nearly 10 years, launched in 2017, produced
very positive results in terms of the diversity
of applications. Some 700 were from women,
12 per cent of the total, while 11 per cent
were from black, Asian and minority ethnic
(BAME) groups (over 600 people).
However, the retention of those applicants
through the selection process proved
more difficult.
In the first stage of the process, which
involved an online assessment of values,
decision making ability and competence in
numeracy, literacy and mechanical reasoning,
there was a disproportionate failure rate
among BAME candidates in the situational
judgement test.
For female applicants, the sticking point was
the physical assessment stage, where upper
body strength is paramount and candidates
face a timed test carrying out simulations
wearing full fire kit. Of the 45 women who
took part in the physical tests, there was a
10 per cent success rate, meaning only four
were successful.
Subsequent analysis of the data from the
selection stages has led to the development
of the ‘nearly there’ strategy, which West
Yorkshire hopes will make a difference when
year two of the recruitment campaign starts
in March 2018.

10

As part of the strategy, BAME participants
who had sat the online tests were invited back
to take part in focus groups to help the fire
service understand the drop off rate.
From feedback, it appeared that at least
part of the problem was about access to
information. The BAME group were less likely
to know a firefighter or someone who worked
in the fire service and were less familiar with
what the job entails. Lacking these networks
and a familiarity with the terminology could
have disadvantaged candidates who were
coming to the fire service afresh.
Emily Davis, West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue
Service’s Diversity, Engagement and Inclusion
Manager, explained: “We have clearly done a
good job inspiring people to apply to the fire
service. But it may be that we only spoke to
them a few weeks before the application date.
It doesn’t give them much time to do their
homework if they are starting from scratch”.
Under the ‘nearly there’ banner, BAME
candidates have been invited back to take
part in training sessions to help them prepare
to apply in year two of the recruitment drive.
A second intervention was aimed at female
applicants who had failed the physical
assessment. They were invited to meet with
the training team at HQ and bespoke physical
training plans were devised for them to
follow. Of the initial 38 women, just under 20
undertook the training, some attending HQ
every fortnight to help keep them on track.
“They are all fit, keen people anyway but
this just gives them an idea of the best way
to prepare and build up their strength” said
Davis. “Part of this is using role models, who
look like them, to show them it can be done.”

Page 42

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
West Yorkshire is also targeting physically fit
women in a partnership with a national fitness
chain. The company has allowed the fire
service to put stands and marketing in gym
foyers. The image of one of the fire service’s
female firefighters, who happens to be slight in
build, has been made into a pop-up banner and
is being used in gyms across West Yorkshire.
Allied to this are ‘awareness days lite’. Fire
crews, which have played a crucial part in
getting the recruitment message out on the
ground, can invite people into stations to
get a flavour of the job, handle some of the
equipment and receive information on the key
recruitment dates that are coming up.
From these days, high potential women
are being identified and invited to HQ to
meet staff.
“We are trying to dispel some of the myths,
familiarise people with who we are and
present a friendly, inclusive face, and
ultimately make them confident through the
process” said Davis.
Applications to the second recruitment round
will be monitored to see what proportion
of the individuals who took part in the two
interventions reapply and are successful.
Councillor Judith Hughes, Chair of West
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority said:
“We were very successful in attracting women
and BAME candidates during 2017, but
unfortunately they were not as successful
as we would have hoped. A great deal of
work has gone into preparing them for the
application process this year, and we have
also chosen to put more emphasis on getting
‘firefighter fit’ in our publicity campaign.
I hope the support which is now available
will give these underrepresented groups the
boost they need to create a level playing field.
This could be the first step in an extremely
rewarding career for them.”

Page 43

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

11

Agenda Item 5a

Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service
Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service’s fourth
place ranking in Stonewall’s list of top lesbian,
gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT+)
inclusive employers this year is testament to
the service’s high-quality inclusion work.
It has come a long way since first taking part
in the charity’s Workplace Equality Index in
2010, when it was placed in 224th position.
Through policies such as a dignity at work
policy with a zero tolerance approach to
discrimination, bullying and harassment
(explicitly including LGBT+ related
discrimination), LGBT+ inclusive family
friendly policies and active LGBT+ and
Allies networks, the service has improved its
position in Stonewall’s ranking year on year.
Not only is Cheshire benchmarking its
progress against other fire and rescue
services, it is benchmarked against
‘big hitters’ such as banks and leading
accountancy firms which have substantial
resources to devote to inclusion.
Its success is down to a combination of
factors, not least the commitment of the
senior management team, an equality
steering group with oversight of diversity
and inclusion work, and buy-in from staff
on the ground.
Cheshire places a high emphasis on being
an inclusive employer. Because of this, in its
recent collaboration with Cheshire Police to
merge support staff into one organisation, the
equality, diversity and inclusion function was
intentionally retained by Cheshire Fire and
Rescue Service. The Equality and Inclusion
Officer reports directly to the Director of
Transformation and has access to senior
managers, including principal officers on
a daily basis. Senior managers are fully
supportive of, and engaged with, equality
work, with the Chief Fire Officer chairing the
Service’s Equality Steering Group.

12

At the heart of the approach is FirePride, an
LGBT+ inclusion network, and FirePride Allies,
colleagues who actively support the work that
FirePride does. It means the activities of the
15-strong FirePride network are backed up by
another 90 or so allies.
According to Melanie Hockenhull, the Equality
and Inclusion Officer, the challenge that
Cheshire is meeting head on is a general
misperception of the fire service as macho,
homophobic or at best, disinterested with a lack
of understanding of the LGBT+ community.
“We have to address these legacy issues and
we need to make sure that everyone can be
themselves at work because, if you are hiding
a large part of who you are, you will not be
performing to the best of your ability” she
said. “LGBT+ inclusion leads to improvements
in business and individual performance.”
A FirePride Business Plan is developed
each year that includes an action plan,
using the Stonewall Workplace Equality
Index as a framework.
As well as attending Pride events in
Manchester and Chester, complete with
an out-of-service rainbow branded fire
appliance, and other inclusion events,
the network is consulted on policies and
procedures to ensure they are inclusive.
Under the innovative Allies approach,
colleagues sign up to an online directory,
including “I’m an Ally because...” quotes. If
staff want to be more visible in their support,
there are rainbow lanyards, laces and even a
pink fire engine pin badge that can be worn.
Cheshire’s commitment to inclusion and its
Stonewall index success has paid dividends.
In recent recruitment rounds for wholetime
firefighters, a significant number of wholetime
recruits identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual.
Staff engagement surveys also show high
levels of engagement among LGBT+ staff.

Page 44

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
Councillor Bob Rudd, Chair of Cheshire
Fire and Rescue Authority, recognises the
importance of LGBT+ inclusion to the wider
LGBT+ community, noting that “Residents
can be sure that the services we provide,
be they emergency response, Safe and Well
visits or youth work, are delivered in a way
that’s inclusive of the wonderfully diverse
communities we serve. No one from the
LGBT+ community should hesitate to engage
with our staff or volunteers and the service’s
fourth position on the Stonewall Top 100 list
provides that reassurance”.

The networks are accountable to the Equality
Steering Group. Every quarter the network
chairs provide updates on the work they are
doing. Both groups have terms of reference
which are tied in to Cheshire’s core values
and five year strategy.

Using FirePride as its inspiration, a women’s
network group, Limitless, was set up one year
ago, spearheaded by Group Manager Lynsey
McVay, the service’s most senior female
operational member of staff.
“It is focused on women but it is open to
anyone” said Hockenhull, “recognising
that we won’t progress without the buy-in
of our men.”
In a partnership with Cheshire Police the
network has planned a programme of events
around International Women’s Day on 8
March 2018 which will culminate in a joint
conference looking at role models and female
police officers and firefighters on the ground.
The network is also consulted on key policies,
including Cheshire’s recently launched
maternity and adoption policies. These
policies were also developed in partnership
with representative bodies. The revised
maternity and adoption polices are quite
ground-breaking for the fire and rescue
service, allowing for up to a year’s full pay
for those on maternity or adoption leave.
Female recruitment figures are strong. In
2016, 24 per cent of wholetime new recruits
were women. In 2017, the figure was 14
per cent, which remains above the national
average, and the service is looking to build
on this in 2018.

Page 45

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

13

Agenda Item 5a

Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service
As part of its strategy to target women in its
on-call firefighting recruitment, Shropshire
Fire and Rescue Service routinely holds
female taster days and visits schools to reach
out to parents.
The recruitment of on-call firefighters in rural
areas is an ongoing issue for the service. By
targeting women in their recruitment drives
Shropshire ensures that the widest pool of
potential recruits available is accessed.
In Shropshire, ‘positive action’ days aimed
at women and minority groups are held
throughout the year where fire station staff,
HR personnel, fitness instructors and oncall group support teams give advice and
support. All elements of the on-call role are
explained, as is the application and selection
process and the physical requirements.
The days, organised by Shropshire Fire and
Rescue Service’s Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion department and delivered by station
staff, are publicised through local media and
social media, such as Facebook, Twitter and
Instagram. The on-call group support team
spreads the word with leaflets and flyers
throughout the local area.
Phil Davis, Station Manager in the West area,
explains: “What is important, particularly in
trying to attract women into the service, is
getting the truth of the role out there. You
don’t need to be super fit or marathon runners
and you don’t need superhuman strength
to do the role effectively. What we try to give
them is an understanding of the full role of a
firefighter and an honest appreciation of the
on-call system. We let them know it can be as
fulfilling as it is demanding”.
The positive action days, which include BAME
taster days, are in addition to more localised
recruitment drives for on-call firefighters.

14

With the requirement of a five-minute
response time for on-call responders, this
recruitment is focused on the specific areas
where the service struggles to recruit. But
again, reaching women, as well as male
applicants, is important.
Evening and weekend cover tends not to
be a problem, but covering daytime hours
can be. As well as working closely with
local businesses to provide employees who
are working nearby to be on-call, residents
who are at home during school time are an
obvious group to approach.
One recent initiative, which Shropshire hopes
to develop further in the future, is targeting
stay-at-home parents with children at school,
who are in the main women, to provide on-call
firefighter cover during the day.
To this end, firefighters held an open morning
at a primary school in Bridgnorth, which one
of the on-call stations has links to.
Neil Grove, Station Manager in the South area
said: “It was a way of catching these parents,
who just happened to be predominately
women, when they are dropping kids off at
school and then follow it up with trips to the
fire station”.
The various activities are having some
success. The on-call stations in the West and
South have twelve female on-call firefighters
and a number are mothers who provide cover
during school hours.
One of the sticking points with pursuing
this potential pipeline further are the
nationally set hours of availability that
the fire service demands.
Generally there are two types of on-call cover
– full cover or three quarter cover. Full cover
is a minimum of 120 hours per week, while
three quarter cover is about 80 hours.

Page 46

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
Neil explained: “It does curtail this activity to a
degree as some of these people do not have
three quarter hours available to give us. Even
three quarter cover equates to up 84 hours of
standby cover.
But this is an area where Shropshire have
been bold enough to use some discretion.
Where there is a specific need for daytime
cover, we will look at people who can provide
us with say 40 hours cover but we have to pay
them the standard three quarter rate. At the
moment that makes sense when we can keep
a community safer by doing so. But to make
it sustainable, with more people on shorter
contracts, there will need to be greater
flexibility as our on-call firefighter cadre
becomes more diverse”.

Chief Fire Officer Rod Hammerton said: “I
attribute this fantastic performance to the
community spirit of the people in Shropshire
and the fact that, as a service we put the
on-call duty service at the forefront of our
decisions. Shropshire Fire and Rescue
Service is an on-call duty service with a
whole time core that gives us resilience”.

Councillor Eric Carter, Chairman to the
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin Fire and
Rescue Authority is confident the approach
of the fire service to recruiting women and
BAME groups is showing improved results.
“The communities of Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin expect us to respond to the
emergencies in their lives with the appropriate
resources to deal with whatever events
are unfolding” he said. “As employers of
choice, we recognise how important it is to
have a workforce which is representative
of our communities. This is not only a moral
responsibility, but supports more effective
interactions with victims across all ranges
of diversity.
We know our tactics work because in the
most recent round of wholetime recruitment
we got over 16 per cent of applications from
women – we just need to stay committed to
making this change happen.”
Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service maintains
its on-call appliances availability at over 96
per cent across the county.

Page 47

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

15

Agenda Item 5a

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service has
rewritten its home and business safety leaflet,
bringing in experts to make its messages
reflect the realities of Muslim life.
The innovative new approach is aimed at
tackling the disproportionate number of Asian
businesses in the fire service’s prosecution
figures and to help keep the community safe
at key times such as Ramadan.
It is just one example of the work being
undertaken as part of a diversity and
inclusion project that began two years
ago, based on two strategic aims: ‘knowing
our communities’ and ‘engaging with
diverse businesses’.
“We began with a round table of staff
with leadership or resource responsibilities
for keeping our communities safe. The
kind of questions we were looking to answer
were who are our diverse communities,
where do they live, how are they fairing,
how can we get to them and how can we
have credible relationships?” said Wendy
Kenyon, Merseyside Fire and Rescue
Service’s Diversity, Engagement and
Consultation Manager.
Using all the data available, a colour
coded map was produced showing the
distribution of residents covered by protected
characteristics legislation. It is robust, easy to
use and simple to understand.
The expectation is that staff involved in
planning or strategies will consult the data
to analyse the possible impact on various
groups. It can also make resource allocation
more efficient. For instance the message
about fire risks associated with Ramadan –
cooking with hot fat at night when people may
be tired, wearing saris or hijabs when cooking
– can be targeted from those stations with a
higher proportion of Muslim residents.

16

A calendar of events has also been produced
which allows for timely campaigns. The
most recent was aimed at Jewish residents
celebrating Hanukkah, where accidents with
candles resulted in two house fires in another
fire service area this year.
“Stage 1 of the project is about knowing our
communities, understanding where they are
and linking their risk profile to our service
delivery and targeting resources efficiently.
On various measures, it has been successful”
said Wendy.
The next step involves meeting, engaging
and consulting with communities to develop
services that meet their needs.
A number of staff have been chosen to
become ‘community champions’. They will
use a proportion of their time, about five
per cent, to establish contacts and have
ongoing dialogue with community groups
and organisations, such as charities, with
expertise in a particular religion, nationality,
health problem or other issue.
As part of its work with the Asian community,
the fire service has enlisted the help of
a multi-faith champion who has already
delivered diversity training to staff.
The expert in Islam has become a broker
between Merseyside and sections of the
Muslim community. He has reviewed fire
service publications to ensure they are
unbiased and use the right language. He
is also looking at everything the fire service
is asking of these communities, including
the significant issue of business safety, and
linking it to the Quran and to scripture.
Five scholars are now prepared to endorse
the new home and business safety leaflets
and to discuss the issue at Friday prayers. A
roundtable with 13 scholars is also planned
which will involve the Deputy Chief Fire
Officer, Wendy Kenyon, and staff who deliver
home and business safety.

Page 48

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
“Ultimately we want less prosecutions, more
home fire safety checks, more people allowed
across the door, more people coming to
our meetings, more people feeling they can
volunteer for the work that we do and more
people applying for our jobs” concluded Wendy.
Figures show that while the recruitment of
female firefighters and apprentices increased
between 2014/15 and 2016/17, BAME
recruitment was less successful.
It is hoped that forging better links with these
communities will help to increase applications
from groups who are under-represented
and the diversity of Merseyside’s workforce
and volunteers in order to better reflect the
residents it serves.
A recent volunteer recruitment campaign,
to enlist people to help provide information
about home fire safety, attend events and
deliver safety presentations in schools,
suggests the inclusion message is beginning
to get through. The team of 14 volunteers
are from diverse backgrounds, and include
men and women, people with a disability, and
people from BAME backgrounds.
Councillor Barbara Murray, the Lead Member
for Equality and Diversity on Merseyside Fire
and Rescue Authority said: “We have worked
hard to understand our diverse communities on
Merseyside. The work the service has carried
out around the ‘Knowing our communities’
project has been instrumental in helping to map
high areas of diversity to enable us to target
key fire safety, road safety and business safety
messages, as well as promote ourselves as a
diverse employer of choice.
The community mapping work has assisted
us to target key resources in times where
budgets have been cut, thus enabling us to
do more with less. The work is the foundation
of community engagement and will assist us
into stage two of the project where we will be
building strong and sustainable relationships
with the diverse communities of Merseyside
to help understand the risks of fire within their
day-to-day lives.”

Page 49

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

17

Agenda Item 5a

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service
Surrey Fire and Rescue Service is
taking steps to better promote its career
opportunities to women and to ensure they
thrive in the working environment once they
are on board.
On International Women’s Day, 8 March
2018, the fire and rescue service will sign
its name to the United Nations ‘HeForShe’
campaign, a solidarity movement aimed at the
advancement of gender equality.
“Surrey Fire and Rescue Service will be
asking its predominately male workforce
to support female colleagues, at all levels,
across all areas of the service and for all to
stand shoulder to shoulder to end gender
inequality” said Dan Quin, Area Commander
tasked with driving forwards workforce
reform. “By standing together in this way,
we can evolve our organisation for the better
for all concerned.”
On the same day, and as part of the action
plan drawn up to support the HeForShe
pledge, Surrey will establish a women’s
support group that can also include
representatives from the county.
A review of the service’s development and
promotion processes, which forms part of
the larger review of talent management, will
also be undertaken to ensure that they are
equally as supportive for women as they are
for men and a commitment will be made to a
fair gender balance in fire and rescue service
meetings. Gender equality training sessions
will also be offered.
The action plan commitments create a
positive backdrop for the launch of a new
recruitment approach, devised as part of
Surrey’s People and Inclusion Strategy,
which will open up both uniformed and
non-uniformed vacancies to county council
employees and beyond.

18

The campaign, under the strap line ’opening
the service up for business’, is a bold move
and breaks with the tradition of operating two
separate recruitment routes for uniformed
and support staff, which has until now seen
uniformed posts only being undertaken
by uniformed members through internal
promotion or inter-service transfers.
According to Dan, the internal trigger
which motivated the change was a clear
shortage of suitable staff to join the
development programme for future
middle managers positions.
“We had opportunities available for five people
but, using internal processes, we were unable
to identify five candidates” he said. “From
our officer reform, it was also clear that we
needed fewer people to meet our operational
requirements than we needed to fulfil our
managerial activities, which meant that there
was the potential to convert some of the posts
into non-uniformed roles without undermining
operational effectiveness/resilience.”
“We are keen to make sure our standards
are not lowered in order to fill vacancies and
to encourage a greater mix of people in the
organisation, so we decided that we would
look at alternative means.”
This has culminated in the ’opening the
service up for business’ plan which aims to
utilise, as a county council service, not only
the skills and capabilities of those that are
already working in the county council but also
those beyond it.
An expression of interest advert has been
drawn up which will encourage people to
come forward and find out more about the
opportunities that are available in Surrey Fire
and Rescue Service.

Page 50

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
It is hoped the move towards greater inclusion
will also improve diversity in the service,
which has a significant underrepresentation
of women. With its more diverse workforce,
the council presents Surrey with a large pool
of potential talent.
In the past, diversity in uniformed roles
would generally have had to come from the
ground up. The new approach, which will
initially employ individuals on a secondment
basis with positions becoming permanent in
some circumstances, will give more scope
for improving diversity at higher levels within
the service, and develop the right talent into
operational roles having first assessed their
managerial skills.
Councillor Denise Turner-Stewart, Chair of
the Fire and Rescue Authority said: “Enabling
each available role to be reviewed and flexibly
recruited to, on the basis of service need,
provides an excellent opportunity to balance
our workforce in terms of gender and access
different capabilities.
Surrey Fire and Rescue Service are making
a deliberate effort to improve their skills in
assessing talent, developing our people
and improving accessibility to the service
at all levels.”

Page 51

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

19

Agenda Item 5a

Kent Fire and Rescue Service
At Kent Fire and Rescue Service, no project,
policy or change is undertaken without first
considering the possible impact on diversity
and inclusion.

“The PIA is embedded into our project
documentation. It happens at the initial
scoping stage, very early on” said Karen
Irvine, Assistant Director of Human Resources.

The service’s People Impact Assessments
(PIAs) have become firmly embedded into
Kent’s practice.

In a recent Kent Fire and Rescue Service
recruitment drive, a PIA was developed
to outline the barriers to more diverse
recruitment. On the back of the document,
the service decided to reach out and test
assumptions about those barriers, for
instance the belief that Asian families have no
interest in the fire service because they want
their children to go in to the professions.

The reports look at how internal and external
practice, policies and procedures might
affect groups with protected characteristics,
such as those from ethnic minorities,
the LGBT+ community and people with
disabilities, as well as the ‘customer’ (a term
embraced by the service) more generally.
One of the most recent areas of work to
benefit from a very detailed PIA was a review
of the service’s flooding response.
The PIA highlights that residents who do
not have English as their first language
may struggle to understand communications
about flooding and water safety and
emphasised the need to look at the
suitability of Kent’s messaging.
In the case of the elderly, their possible digital
exclusion could make communications more
difficult and there could be a danger to health
if medication is left behind and their doctors’
surgery is out of action.
It also looks at the potential impact of
conditions such as dementia which are known
to cause sufferers to be drawn to water. The
report advises that ’such considerations could
be factored into actions such as the search
for missing persons in and around water’.
Firefighters who may have once been
sceptical about the usefulness of PIAs are
coming to see the advantages of putting them
at the foundation of what they do. It has been
a long process but by emphasising practical
considerations that apply to crews on the
ground, staff have bought in to the concept.

20

Community Engagement Officer Jo Harfleet
was appointed to go out to community and faith
groups including temples, gurdwaras, mosques
and other locations to speak to members of the
Asian community in the county.
Through this work, the service has tapped in
to the Gurkha community which up until that
point had been below the radar.
“We began by looking at the obvious pockets
of community that we knew about. We have
quite a big Polish community for instance, and
from that contact Jo was picking up smaller
communities that we could also make contact
with” said Irvine. “Similarly, within the temple,
there are different groups that meet regularly.
So the coffee morning for older people was
an ideal group to visit for our community
safety message, while the Saturday morning
school was perfect for a presentation on
education and careers in the fire service.”
Ground work for the development of
PIAs was laid by an earlier ‘operational
diversity’ approach. This outlined practical
considerations for crews, for instance in a
case of extracting an individual from a car
who happened to be autistic, the firefighter
would not use the sheet on their head.

Page 52

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
Crews understood and appreciated this work
because they could relate to how it worked for
them out in the field.
“Having had the first generation of that kind
of thinking we are now moving on to our
second and potentially third generation of
policies, and staff are moving along with us”
said Irvine.
Councillor Nick Chard, Chairman of Kent and
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority, said the
People Impact Assessments give Kent Fire
and Rescue Service a valuable tool to ensure
services do not remain static but evolve
with the diverse and changing needs of the
communities in Kent.
“We have integrated the People Impact
Assessment into our everyday work which
enables us to focus on who we are delivering
our services to. Also, by embedding PIAs
into our projects and policy development,
we are able to think very early on who will
be impacted and take this into consideration
when developing new services, procuring
operational equipment or developing new
operational procedures” he added.

Page 53

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

21

Agenda Item 5a

London Fire Brigade
Currently only 7.2 per cent of London Fire
Brigade’s (LFB) operational workforce are
women, but a new recruitment drive, coupled
with a high profile social media campaign, is
aiming to change that.
In November 2016, consultants were
commissioned to look into why the firefighter
role still isn’t appealing to women. The aim
of the exercise was to highlight women’s
perceptions of firefighters and to identify the
barriers to women taking the steps to join LFB.
A sample of women firefighters were
interviewed as part of the research, alongside
experts who have had some success in
increasing the number of women in their
organisation and a representative sample of
women from London, who possessed skills
and attributes in line with firefighting’s
general skills.
The findings revealed that while women had
many of the qualities that are important in
the firefighting role, there was an overall lack
of awareness of what the job entailed and
misconceptions that put women off.
It became clear that women were not
being ‘sold’ the job and that elements of
the application process, and even the LFB
website, were not seen as user friendly.
In the light of these findings, an entirely
new recruitment campaign has been
designed that aims to attract female
applications, as well as interest from the
BAME and LGBT+ communities.
The campaign went live on 2 October and sets
out to show why ‘firefighting means so much
more’. It includes a brand new website with
interactive features and fresh content, leading
through to a new mobile enabled platform
for people to apply. One of the highlights
is a film presenting the different roles that
a professional firefighter juggles in order to
protect the communities the LFB serves.

22

It features real London firefighters and is being
used across all communication channels
including Twitter, Facebook and Instagram.
The work is part of a longer term approach
to firefighter recruitment. The selection
process has been reviewed and is carefully
monitored to ensure there is no adverse
impact on female applicants. As the
campaign is developed further, it will support
a new outreach team that has been set up
to promote careers in the fire service and
offer personal support with preparing for the
application stages and fitness tests.
Around the same time as the recruitment
drive got under way, the LFB launched a
social media campaign, #FirefightingSexism.
Aimed at replacing the dated and inaccurate
term ‘firemen’ with the term ‘firefighters’, it
encourages people to post photos and tweet
what firefighting sexism means to them. In
a matter of days, it had gone viral on Twitter
and Facebook.
Comments posted on social media in
response to the campaign have been
mixed. Many support the message. Some
have objected that the campaign is simply
about being politically correct or a waste
of resource. Views have also been shared
by some fire and rescue service staff either
publicly or via internal communication
channels, that the campaign may restrict
them from expressing themselves freely and
that sexism works both ways, for example with
regards to parental leave.
Internal communications have been an
important part of the campaign to explain
its aims and information has been made
available internally and externally regarding
the minimum costs involved when using
social media.

Page 54

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
While some external audiences and
colleagues may struggle to accept the
message, a range of measures are in place
to ensure female firefighters can thrive in
their jobs, said Susan Ellison-Bunce, Head of
Strategy and Inclusion at London Fire Brigade.
“There’s a very active women’s group which
offers mentoring, advice and support. We
make sure through the borough commander,
the station manager and down through the
command chain that women firefighters are
as well supported as their male colleagues”
she said. “We don’t want them to be singled
out for special treatment but we do want them
to be treated well and be able to thrive like
any other person in the organisation.”

It’s challenging perceptions, generating long
over-due debates, creating accessible ways
for people to learn about the role of a modern
firefighter and importantly, it’s working hard
to ensure children grow up knowing that
no matter what sex they are they can be a
professional firefighter.”

Coaching and mentoring is a key plank of
the strategy and the LFB is developing a new
network which, for the first time, will involve
an internal assessment of staff who want to
become coaches and mentors.
“We are not just accepting people
automatically” said Ellison-Bunce. “If we don’t
feel people are suitable at that moment in time,
we will offering development and training.”
About 35 LFB staff are also taking part in
a new coaching and sponsorship project
launched by the Greater London Authority
(GLA), particularly aimed at women, which will
involve co-coaching with colleagues in other
services and the sharing of good practice.
Chair of the London Fire and Emergency
Planning Authority, Fiona Twycross said:
“There are more London Fire Brigade women
firefighters than ever before, but with females
still making up less than ten per cent of the
workforce we have a way to go to make the
fire and rescue service fully accessible and
inclusive. The work the brigade is doing right
now is really exciting.

Page 55

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

23

Agenda Item 5a

Inclusive Fire Service Group
The Inclusive Fire Service Group was set
up by the National Joint Council for Local
Authority Fire and Rescue Services (NJC).
It brings together a diversity and depth
of expertise to address this important
and challenging issue from employer and
employee perspectives, identifying strategies
that could be used at a local level to further
encourage improvement.
It is chaired by the Independent Chair of the
NJC, Linda Dickens, and other interested
parties, such as the National Fire Chiefs
Council (NFCC), the Fire Brigades Union,
Fire Officers Association (FOA) and Retained
Firefighters Union, accepted invitations to be
part of the group.
The group also engaged with wider
groups such as Stonewall, MIND, Women
in the Police Service, Asian Fire Service
Association, Women in the Fire Service, the
Fire Brigade Union’s women, black, Asian
and ethnic minority (BAME) and lesbian,
gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT+)
committees, and other trade unions (Unison
and GMB Union).
Following on from an in depth evidence
gathering phase (which included collection of
baseline data and information, employee focus
groups, a wider employee survey, workshops
with equality and diversity managers and union
representatives from fire and rescue services
across the UK and with senior managers),
work has focussed on development of the
strategies. These were circulated to fire and
rescue services who were asked to consider
them at both member and officer levels.

In general, the group felt that:
• Inclusivity should be embedded in every
aspect of the fire and rescue service.
• There is a need for visible senior ownership
and leadership – to lead by example and to
ensure that local strategies and initiatives
become reality on the ground, thereby
embedding inclusion as the norm. Within a
service this should be at chief officer level.
Within a fire authority a specific member of
the authority should hold the portfolio.
• Union involvement should be recognised
as an important factor in delivering
improvement, particularly in respect of
peer to peer involvement.
• Fire and rescue services should ensure the
workplace is fit for purpose for all groups
of employees including correct Personal
Protective Equipment and gender specific
station and fireground facilities.
In essence the specific strategies identify
practical steps to achieve improvement and
cover four main areas:
• promoting an inclusive culture
• recruitment
• progression
• retention.
A detailed copy of the strategies can be
found in the group’s most recent report.3 In
addition, the report indicates the responses
received from services, as to what extent it
is intended to use each of the strategies, the
improvements services expect to see and, if
appropriate, expected timescales.

3

24

www.local.gov.uk/njc-circular-0118

Page 56

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

Agenda Item 5a
The strategies were very well received and
responses indicate substantial support. Once
a sufficient period of time has passed during
which the strategies can become embedded
and start to deliver results, the group intends
to monitor the outcomes. It can then consider:
what has delivered the best results and
importantly share that information; whether
any of the strategies need to be revised; and
if there is a need to develop further strategies.
This will ensure that the momentum to deliver
improvement is maintained.

Page 57

An inclusive fire service: looking at recruitment and inclusion

25

Agenda Item 5a

Page 58

Agenda Item 5a

Page 59

Agenda Item 5a

Local Government Association
18 Smith Square
London SW1P 3HZ
Telephone 020 7664 3000
Fax 020 7664 3030
Email info@local.gov.uk
www.local.gov.uk

© Local Government Association, February 2018

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,
please contact us on 020 7664 3000.
We consider requests on an individual basis.
REF 10.19

Page 60

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

Workforce Report
Purpose of Report
To update the Fire Commission on matters in relation to fire service industrial relations and
pension matters
Summary
This briefly describes the main industrial relations and pension issues at present.

Recommendation:
Members are asked to note the issues set out in the paper.

Action:
Officers to progress as directed.

Contact officer:

Gill Gittins (industrial relations)

Clair Alcock (pensions)

Position:

Principal Negotiating Officer

Fire Pensions Adviser

Phone no:

020 7187 7335

020 7664 3189

E-mail:

gill.gittins@local.gov.uk

clair.alcock@local.gov.uk

Page 61

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

Pensions
Scheme Governance
1.

Early indications from The Pension Regulators’ (TPR) annual Governance and
Administration Survey are that they had a 100% response rate from Fire Pensions,
and that the results had increased by upwards of 30% in some areas.

2.

The Scheme Advisory Board recently hosted a joint Fire and Police Local Pension
Board governance event, as part of their ongoing support to Local Pension Boards.
The event was very successful. TPR attended and gave an overview of the results
and their expectations.

3.

The Scheme Advisory Board recently undertook their own survey of Local Pension
Board governance and the results are published here. The response rate from Fire
Auhtorities was disappointing at 73% compared to a 100% response rate to TPR. The
report makes a number of recommendations for boards and the expectation is that
board should consider these at their next meeting, on of those recommendations is
that boards should provide an annual report to the Fire Authority.

LGA Firefighter Pension Scheme Communications and Events
4.

The bulletins will now be published monthly – bulletin 7 has just been published.

5.

Slides from past events and details of upcoming events are published on the board
website http://www.fpsboard.org/index.php/events

6.

In order to support Fire Authorities understand their responsibilities under GDPR for
pension scheme data, there is now a new page for GDPR resources available here.
Privacy notes for use by Fire Authorities as data controllers of the pension scheme
have been commissioned and should be published ASAP.

Scheme Regulations
7.

The Home Office is consulting on draft amendments to the scheme regulations, the
amendments are relatively minor, the consultation and draft SI are available here.
Once the SI has been laid a note of the amendment order and any action expected by
Fire Authorities will be issued.

Page 62

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

KEY WIDER WORKFORCE ISSUES
Broadening the role of the firefighter / Pay claim

8.

The term ‘broadening the role’ refers to an NJC commitment to work jointly together
on changes identified by each Side to ensure that there is a pay framework alongside
terms and conditions in the fire and rescue service which reflect the responsibilities of,
and current and future demands on, the service and the profession. Substantial work
to date has looked at areas such as environmental challenges, emergency medical
response, community engagement, inspection and enforcement and multi-agency
emergency response (which includes MTFA).

9.

Members will recall that a formal pay claim was received and following a number of
consultation meetings with Chairs and Chief Fire Officers an offer was made. The
offer was not accepted. While negotiations continue it was agreed to apply a 1.0% pay
award.

10.

Both sides of the National Joint Council (NJC) remain fully committed to identifying a
mutually acceptable resolution and negotiations are therefore continuing with frequent
meetings taking place to scope potential changes to roles and to explore how that
could be reflected in terms of pay. Those negotiations are constructive in nature.

11.

As members are aware the latter will be directly affected by available funding on a
sustainable basis. Both sides of the NJC therefore also remain committed to joint
political lobbying in that regard. Since the last meeting of the Commission that
lobbying has continued.

12.

Following an NJC meeting with the Home Office Minister for Policing and the Fire
Service and in the context of his highly valuing the role that firefighters play in
protecting our communities and recognising the need for them to be rewarded fairly
for the job that they do, the Minister has indicated that he wishes to receive additional
information in respect of how a ‘fair’ pay award would look.

13.

He has also asked the employers to provide an assessment of fire and rescue
authorities’ ability to fund an increase from their existing budgets. In this regard the
Minister made reference to the government’s latest assessment which shows ‘that
single purpose fire and rescue authorities’ reserves have increased by 88% to £615
million between 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2017’. He wishes to see ‘a strong
justification from the employers’ side setting out why additional funding to meet an
Page 63

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

increased pay award cannot be prioritised from the fire and rescue authority budgets’.
Detailed work is in hand on this issue.
14.

The NJC is a UK-wide body and members may therefore be interested to know that
the Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and Public Services in Wales has, while
expressing his view that any outcome must also work well for Wales, indicated that he
is happy for further discussion to take place. In Scotland, the government has
indicated that it is prepared to fund an increase in firefighter pay. This is likely to be
sufficient to cover both the negotiations through the NJC and a number of local issues.

15.

We intend to undertake a further round of meetings with Chairs and CFOs to take
stock and are currently trying to ascertain the best time to do so, which will be
influenced by the above lobbying discussions and the forthcoming National Joint
Council meeting. The expectation is these meetings will take place towards the end of
June/early July.

Inclusive Fire Service Group
16.

This group is NJC led and includes representation from NJC employer and employee
secretariats, the NFCC, RFU, FBU and FOA. The Independent Chair is Professor
Linda Dickens.

17.

Members will be aware of the work previously undertaken by this group on strategies
to deliver improvements at local level in respect of inclusion, diversity and cultural
issues such as bullying and harassment.

18.

One of the improvement strategies however does require national coordination – a
national awareness campaign. Wide evidence gathered by the group suggested that
public awareness of the breadth of the firefighter role would assist with recruitment
and retention issues. Support had been sought from the Home Office in this regard.
(This would be similar to the work being separately undertaken in respect of
recruitment to retained duty system posts).

19.

The Home Office has attended the most recent meetings of the group to follow up on
those discussions and to present on the work it is undertaking to support FRAs in
recruitment from diverse groups. Feedback from the Home Office is that they found
the visits to be very useful, recognising the uniqueness of inclusion of employer,
management and employee representatives. It has already taken on board some of
the feedback for example changing the use of the term ‘boot camp’ in proposed
literature relating to fitness issues and suggested improvement around images.

Court Of Justice of the European Union - Ville De Nivelles V Rudy Matzak
Page 64

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

20.

This recent case concerns a ‘volunteer’ firefighter in Belgium. However its impact will
be felt more widely, including in the UK.

21.

In essence it has determined that stand-by time of a worker at home who is obliged to
respond to calls from the employer within a short period must be regarded as ‘working
time’.

22.

We are currently considering the implications of this determination on the retained
duty system and are in the process of obtaining a QC opinion in order to inform
guidance to FRAs. A sounding board was formed to inform the content of the
instructions to the QC.

Employment Tribunal Cases - Pension Scheme Transitional Protection Arrangements
23.

Members will recall that the Employment Tribunal found in favour of fire authorities.
The FBU, who act on behalf of the claimants, lodged an appeal. The Employment
Appeal Tribunal decided to join the appeal with that in the McCloud case relating to
judges (which found in favour of the judges). That appeal has been heard since the
last meeting of the Fire Commission.

24.

The EAT allowed the firefighters' appeals in certain respects. However, the EAT has
not examined the evidence and found there was discrimination. The EAT's judgment
simply means that, in its view, the ET was mistaken in the law in certain limited
respects. However, in regard to those matters, the EAT recognised that there are
grounds to appeal against its decision and the Respondents, including the FRAs, were
given permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal. The reasons for allowing the
firefighters' appeals in so far as the EAT did so, were very limited and the
Respondents to the Claims, the Governmental bodies and the Fire and Rescue
Authorities, succeeded on a significant number of points.

25.

The appeal to the Court of Appeal is expected to be heard in January or February
2019.

26.

In addition to the above, the FRAs have a separate appeal based on Schedule 22 of
the Equality Act 2010. At the initial stage the Employment Tribunal found against the
fire authorities. The appeal is based on the belief that the FRAs have been very much
stuck in the middle between the Governmental bodies and the FBU and the dispute
between those bodies. The FRAs have done nothing other than seek to apply the law
as determined by others. The EAT has now ordered that this separate appeal should
be stayed until the Court of Appeal has given its judgment.
Page 65

Agenda Item 6
Fire Commission

21 May 2018

Page 66

Agenda Item 7

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Fire Commission update paper
Purpose of report
For information.
Summary
The report outlines issues of interest to the Commission not covered under the other items
on the agenda.

Recommendation
Members are asked to note the report.
Action
Officers to continue to provide updates to members.

Contact officer:

Lucy Ellender

Position:

Adviser

Phone no:

020 7664 3321

E-mail:

lucy.ellender@local.gov.uk

Page 67

Agenda Item 7

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Fire Services Management Committee update and outside bodies
paper
Government
PCCs and fire governance
1.

In March the Government announced that the PCCs for West Mercia, Staffordshire and
Cambridgeshire would take on the governance of the fire and rescue services in their
areas. In April the Home Office confirmed that the Northamptonshire PCC would take
on the governance of the fire and rescue service.

2.

The LGA has been providing support to the FRAs affected by contested PCC business
cases.

National Fire Framework
3.

The new National Fire Framework has been published following a consultation. The
new Framework is available on the Government’s website; The LGA responded to the
Home Office’s Fire Framework consultation. The full consultation response can be
found in Appendix A.

Fire Statistics
4.

The Government released their latest set of incidents statistics at the start of May. The
statistics outline that FRSs attended 563,527 incidents in the year ending December
2017. This included 169,588 fires, which was a 4 per cent increase compared to the
previous year but a 50 per cent decrease compared with 10 years ago. FRSs also attended 170,556 non-fire incidents, which was a 2 per cent decrease compared to the
previous year.

5.

The full set of statistics can be found on the Government’s website.

6.

On 25 January the Government released their statistics into response times to fires attended by the fire service. The release stated that overall response times have gradually increased over the last 20 years though it also stated that between 2015-16 and
2016-17 response times to all types of fires either decreased or remained the same
with the exception of “other building” fires. The average response time to primary fires
(more serious fires that harm people or cause damage to property1) in England in
2016/17 was 8 minutes and 44 seconds: a decrease of 3 seconds since 2015/16 but an
increase of 33 seconds since 2011/12.

7.

More information is on the Government’s website.

Page 68

Agenda Item 7

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

Inspection
HMICFRS Consultation and External Reference Group
8.

The LGA responded to HMICFRS’s consultation on their proposed inspection
programme and methodology and the recent sector consultation on the judgement
criteria.

9.

Our main concern has continued to be the potential for additional burdens to be added
to fire and rescue services as a result of the inspection programme. In particular rather
than focusing on one aspect of community safety, ie road safety, we would prefer to the
judgement criteria to look more generally at non-statutory duties in response to risks
that are identified through local IRMPs.

Local Government Association
Sprinklers and Automatic Fire Suppression Systems Working Group
10.

Following the last Fire Commission the LGA set up a working group to look at
sprinklers and automatic fire suppression systems. The Group held its first meeting in
February and then held evidence sessions at the beginning of May with a wide range of
participants including:
12.1. The Fire Protection Association
12.2. Sir Ken Knight
12.3. The Greater London Assembly
12.4. Residential Sprinklers Association
12.5. European Fire Sprinkler Network
12.6. Business Sprinklers Alliance
12.7. National Fire Chiefs Council
12.8. Ealing Council
12.9. Croydon Council
12.10. Local Authority Building Control
12.11. Welsh Government

11.

The next meeting of the working group will take place immediately after the Fire
Commission meeting where members will consider the evidence and comment on a
report for the June FSMC meeting.

LGA Fire leadership Essentials
12.

The LGA will be holding two fire leadership essentials in 2018-19. Dates for those
should be confirmed soon.

Page 69

Agenda Item 7

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

LGA Fire Conference
13.

The LGA will be publishing a short write up from the Fire Conference on our website to
highlight some of the key discussions and themes from the conference.

Other issues
NFCC - Fire Commercial Transformation Programme
14.

The programme was established to identify and realise savings and efficiencies across
the sector through greater collaboration (including wider emergency services
collaboration where opportunities exist), helping Fire and Rescue Services to protect
the front line. There are six key categories of expenditure; Operational Equipment,
Fleet, Clothing (Including Firefighter PPE), Estates & FM, ICT and Professional
Services. Each of the six categories has a sponsor (Chief Fire Officer) and a
Commercial Lead (Head of Procurement/Procurement Manager) and a strategy has
been produced for each. The FCTP is also supported by a PMO (1.5 FTE) and the
Home Office. A Strategic Commercial Board (SCB) is chaired by Ann Millington (Chief
Executive Kent FRS & NFCC Procurement Strategic Lead) and provides the strategic
direction and governance associated with the programme.

15.

In total 9 different FRS are represented on the Strategic Commercial Board (providing
Sponsors and/or Commercial Leads) as well as the Home Office and an independent
board member who provides scrutiny. The programme is currently funded by the
Home Office. We are reliant on involvement from other FRSs to support or lead on
procurement/commercial activity through the creation of sector frameworks and/or
working with PBO’s to aggregate our demand and secure savings and efficiencies for
the sector.

16.

44 Fire and Rescue Service CFO’s (across England and Wales) have signed an MoU
between their FRS and the Fire Commercial Transformation Programme committing
them to participate, support or lead on national collaborative activity where it is in their
interest to do so. The programme (supported by the Home Office) has also conducted
a number of national projects to better understand the procurement/commercial
landscape across our sector, these include a national expenditure analysis project, a
procurement survey (establishing the number and type of procurement/commercial
resources across the sector) and we have just launched a national savings register
project. The latter will enable us to report, at national level, on local and
national/collaborative savings achieved by FRSs. We are currently reviewing the LGA
National Procurement Strategy 2018 with a view to adopting this across our sector.

17.

Recognising the impact this activity can have on Suppliers we are actively engaged
with FIA/FIRESA and currently meet with them (and others including the Fire Sector
Federation) on a quarterly basis to discuss how engagement and strategy can be
improved to our mutual benefit. The programme is delivering significant savings, far in
excess of the operating costs. Home Office funding will be exhausted early/mid 2019

Page 70

Agenda Item 7

Fire Commission
21 May 2018

and the programme is currently exploring more sustainable funding to enable the
programme to continue operating.

Page 71

Agenda Item 8

Note of last Fire Commission meeting
Title:

Fire Commission

Date:

Friday 13 October 2017

Venue:

5th Floor Conference Suite (South Side), Layden House, Turnmill
Street, London, EC1M 5LG

Item

Decisions and actions

1

Welcome, Apologies and Declarations of Interest
The Chair, Cllr Ian Stephens, opened the meeting, giving thanks to officers, lead
members and previous members of the Fire Commission, as well as welcoming new
members. Several apologies were given (see Appendix A) and there were no
declarations of interest.

2

Professional Standards Body
Dan Tasker, Area Manager at Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority, attended the
meeting to give members an update on the work he is doing on the Professional
Standards Body Project.
Dan explained that part of the fire reform agenda was the need to create a suite of
standards for the fire and rescue service. The Professional Standards Body (PSB)
Project team has been commissioned to create a consistent, accountable and
transparent set of standards which the service can strive to achieve and also be
measure against. This is an ongoing process and the project team are working closely
with HMICFRS, as well as looking at how existing standards bodies work for other
public services. Research undertaken as part of the project had been narrowed down
to two primary means of delivering standards – physical standard setting and a
standardised approach to delivery. The PSB would provide a clear, standardised
approach on how to achieve a benchmark level of standards but the model by which
this is delivered was still up for discussion. Dan outlined four possible delivery models
– the fully absorbed model, the mirror model, an affiliated or collaborative model, and
a FRS-led model. It was suggested that the second and third options look most useful
and that the affiliated model seemed to be a popular choice with stakeholders.
The affiliation model of delivering standards would allow for two separate colleges –
one for fire and one for policing – with collaboration at its heart. This would involve
joint standards, codes of ethics and scene investigation, with the fire and rescue
service already works with the police on. The PSB was looking at how best to bring
joint strategic leadership programmes, as well as joint research and development
hubs together to benefit both services.
In terms of funding, members were told that there had to be an idea of the scope and
nature of the standards agreed, as well as the size of the organisation needed to
deliver such standards before an accurate suggestion of costs could be made. The
project team had started to look at where potential funding could come from and it
was noted that a lot of what is needed already exists so it could be a matter of utilising
Page 73

Agenda Item 8

existing capacity to deliver a standards body. Consideration was also being given to a
transition grant fund and whether fire authorities would need funding support to
achieve new standards.
Dan concluded by saying that developing standards involves a six-stage process
which can take up to 18 months but as a number of standards already exist, it may not
take this long.
This comment was made following the presentation:


Research and development activities are already taking place across the
sector – MoU signed by NFCC, the Fire Service College, the Fire Industry
Association (FIA) – why is this work being duplicated? Dave Curry noted that
the NFCC team looking at this had already had detailed discussions with the
Professional Standards Body project team about combining this work. Dan
Tasker suggested that efforts were being made to collate the findings from all
of these activities to find common ground so that standards are led by
accountability, consistency and transparency.

Decision:
Members noted the update.
3

Retained Firefighters Union
The Chair introduced Tristan Ashby, Chief Executive of the Retained Firefighters
Union (RFU), who gave members an overview of the RFU and their position of various
topics relevant to the fire service. Tristan explained that the RFU was founded in the
run up to the first national fire strike and that it has a ‘no strike’ constitution. The union
has no political affiliations, relies on subscriptions and is member-led. Members
dictate the strategy and policies of the union, and it is represented on all working
groups. In 2005, the RFU was recognised by the National Employers for consultation
purposes and they welcome NJC reform as an organisation.
Tristan noted that the RFU was trying to move away from the terminology of ‘retained’
firefighters and was keen to encourage use of the term ‘on-call’ instead.
Approximately 12,500 on-call firefighters in England equate to around 10,000 full time
equivalent roles and some of these firefighters are available 120 hours per week. The
average earnings of an on-call firefighter is £5-8,000 per year, which is fully taxable.
On-call firefighters are trained, equipped and resourced exactly the same as full time
colleague, with the only difference being the length of time it takes to respond to the
station when there is a need for them.
Members were told that there were always a number of vacancies for on-call
firefighters and that there was a natural turnover of around 10 per cent a year, which
allows members to tackle the diversity agenda where possible. In terms of wider
reform, the RFU welcomed Sir Ken Knight’s support in 2013 when he called for the
expansion of on-call firefighters, as well as the Adrian Thomas report. On inspections,
the RFU had lobbied for an Ofsted-style inspection regime for a number of years as it
felt there was a clear need to provide accountability and scrutiny within the sector.
The RFU also welcomed talks around broadening the role of on-call firefighters and
Tristan noted that a number of operators had been working in co-response schemes
for over 20 years.
Page 74

Agenda Item 8

Tristan noted that there were challenges faced by the union, including the view that
their members often felt unrepresented at a national level in regards to collective
bargaining. The RFU was clear that all voices should be heard at a national level and
while some progress had been made, a number of on-call firefighters felt that they
were treated as inferior when compared to full time colleagues. It was also noted that
there had been a lot of talk about mental health recently, and that the services needed
to consider what it does on a daily basis and how people were treated.
The following comment was made after this presentation:


The voice of the RFU on behalf of on-call firefighters was welcomed as areas
exist where there is no difference between on-call and whole time firefighters.
The RFU’s efforts in the South West in particular were praised and members
were keen to share best practice. It was noted, however, that this would
require additional resources and the RFU agreed that any assistance from the
Home Office on this would be useful.

Decision:
Members noted the presentation from the RFU.
4

Pensions Scheme Board Chair
The Chair of the Pensions Scheme Advisory Board, Malcolm Eastwood, gave
members an update on the work of the Board, and confirmed that Cllr Roger Philips
and Fiona Twycross had been appointed to sit on the Board, alongside Cllrs Roger
Price, John Bell, Thomas Wright, and Tristan Ashby from the Retained Firefighters
Union, who sits on the Board as an employee representative.
Malcolm advised members that they could delegate the role of scheme manager but
that they needed to ensure that effective management was in place. He said that
there was an indication from the Pensions Regulator that they were looking at this
extremely closely and were issuing fines where contraventions were found. Malcolm
drew members’ attention to the free training offered by the LGA, suggesting that they
contacted Clair Alcock if there was any interest in free annual training offered to
FRAs. Members were also told about free tax seminars which were being held across
the country, some of which were being run in tandem with those designed for the
police service. Members were encouraged to champion fire pensions to scheme
members, and ensure that they were managing their delegation of scheme managers
where appropriate. Members should be aware of the risks involved but should also
proactively support their local pensions boards.
Decision:
Members noted the update.

5

Fire Service College
The Chair introduced Tim Jackson, Business Development Director of The Fire
Service College who gave an overview of how the College was benefitting from
investment and the various improvements made to the College over the past few
years.
Page 75

Agenda Item 8

Tim explained that there had been an agreement made between the Department for
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and Capita on the change of ownership
of the College and that there had been a considerable amount invested into the
College since Capita had purchased it. The investment was primarily put towards the
upkeep of the College, which costs £11 billion each year to keep open, as well as a
refurbishment project and the maintenance of existing infrastructure and facilities. Tim
said that £35 million had been invested since the purchase and while the
improvements were being done incrementally, a number of works had already been
completed including a new accommodation block, new breathing apparatus facility
and refurbishments to the restaurants, bars, reception and toilets, some of which were
ongoing. The result of this investment meant that the College was the second largest
training site in the world, the only site in the UK with full accommodation, and the
largest conference venue in the south west. Tim said that the College had had over
400,000 delegates through its doors over the past 40 years and that the College tried
hard to maintain good standards.
In order to maintain these investments, Tim noted that the College had to diversify
with new markets but that the international market was growing. He said that the UK
Fire and Rescue Service generated 50 per cent of the College’s revenue, with other
government agencies and the private sector generating a further 25 per cent each.
The College was making a profit for the first time this year, which would allow further
investment back into the college and the services it provided, including additional
foundation training programmes for new recruits, a new eLearning platform, a new
scheduling/booking system and the renovation of blocks which had not been used for
some time.
In terms of the leadership and direction of the College, members were told that the fire
and rescue service was still the primary customer of the College but that its strategy
had to be adapted to remain open by sourcing other clients. The leadership team was
taking a more proactive approach in its communication with clients and a new senior
advisory team would be put in place. The College was looking for members’ support
to develop a relationship with the UK fire and rescue service and was clear that they
wanted the service to be a strategic partner. Tim invited members to visit the College
and said there was an open invite for anyone who wanted to see the facilities it
offered.
Members made the following comments:


Having visited the College, members voiced their endorsement of it and
encouraged other members to visit. Members said that it was exciting to see
the range of activity taking place at the College and that the facilities were an
impressive asset.

Decision:
Members noted the presentation.
6

Grenfell Tower and fire safety in high rise buildings
London Fire Brigade (LFB) Commissioner, Dany Cotton, attended the Fire
Commission meeting and gave members an update on the work which had been
ongoing since she gave a detailed update at the Fire Commission meeting in July
2017. Dany said that the public inquiry was underway and that the LFB had core
participant status so was being asked to supply a considerable amount of information
Page 76

Agenda Item 8

to the inquiry, which was proving challenging in the timescales given. There had been
a request to interview between 300 – 600 members of LFB staff in addition to the
request for documentation, which was difficult to facilitate and was stretching staff
capacity. The LFB was also performing risk assessments of those being asked to be
interviewed as a number of staff were not considered to be in a fit state to be
interviewed. The LFB’s priority was to protect staff wherever possible and ensure that
their mental health was not compromised. In addition to the public inquiry, the LFB
was also contributing towards the police investigation and fire safety teams were
working hard to facilitate the requirements of high rise building safety, carrying out the
second tranche of visits to high rises and working closely with local authorities. There
were a number of challenges associated with this, including the large number of
buildings impacted, a shortage in the supply chain of physical goods (fire doors,
lighting strips, etc.), and staff who were competent and able to do these assessments.
The main priority in all of this was to ensure the safety of residents in buildings, but a
further ongoing piece of work would look at privately owned buildings, as well as
hospitals and schools.
Steven Adams spoke on behalf of the NFCC, noting that they were collating evidence
from all fire and rescue services and looking at the differing views and challenges
faced by areas across the country. The inquiries were generating a considerable
amount of work for the NFCC, who had been provided some support by the Home
Office. As well as details about their position statement, Steven told members that the
NFCC was providing the next stage of support which included technical and
professional advice where there were some buildings local officers were not clear how
best to make safe in the interim period before new fire safety or suppression
measures could be installed. The NFCC and LGA were in the process of putting
together some guidance on how to increase residents’ safety but it was noted that
work on this would be ongoing for some time.
Principal Policy Adviser for the LGA, Mark Norris updated members on the work being
done to assess private sector buildings and he encouraged members to provide
information about the costs their areas were likely to incur when replacing unsafe
cladding.
The following comment was made:


There was a feeling that the LGA was not consulting as much with the Fire
Services Management Committee or Fire Commission as it should be as none
of the lead members had been appointed to the Grenfell Tower Task and
Finish Group. It was felt that the structures could be brought into this and be
consulted more regularly.

Decision:
Members noted the update.
Action:
Officers to continue collating survey responses from local authorities about the costs
they will incur.
7

FSMC and Fire Commission Policy Priorities for 2017-18
The Chair asked members to note the policy priorities for 2017/18 and asked if
Page 77

Agenda Item 8

members had any comments:


A suggestion was made the a sprinkler working group was put back on the
agenda as a priority and that the LGA took a firmer approach to calls for
sprinklers. There were a number of volunteers who were willing to take part in
this group and other members welcomed the suggestion. The Chair asked for
a show of hands in support of this and it was clear that the Fire Commission
backed the idea.

Decisions:
1) Members noted the policy priorities.
2) Lead members would discuss the suggestion of a sprinkler working group.
Action:
Officers to liaise with lead members to discuss how to re-establish the working group.
8

Workforce paper
Cllr Nick Chard gave members an update on the pay negotiations and explained that
the 2 per cent offer had been rejected by the Fire Brigade Union (FBU) membership,
despite approval having been recommended by the executive council. The NJC was
waiting for the FBU to come back to them on this and Gill Gittins, Principal Negotiating
Officer, noted that despite the rejection of the offer, the union’s leadership were
committed to engaging in positive communications around the issue. Members were
told that progress was being made in terms of identifying what broadening the role of
firefighters would look like and that the NJC would continue to press the Government
on the view that more money should be made available to fire services across the UK,
not just in England.
The following points was made:


A concern was raised about a possible typing error in paragraph 16 of the
report where it said that an agreement was reached ‘now to uplift pay across
the board by 1.0 per cent’. Clarification was sought from the workforce team
on this point.

Decision:
Members noted the workforce paper.
Action:
Workforce officers to continue negotiations.
9

Update paper
Cllr Chard gave members a summary of the meeting he and the Fire Services
Management Committee lead members had with the Minister for Policing and the Fire
Service on 10 October 2017. He told members that they discussed the independent
assessment of Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) business case submissions,
Page 78

Agenda Item 8

the pay negotiations, the NJC and the implications of Grenfell Tower. The lead
members and Cllr Chard told the Minister that if the fire and rescue service will be
allocated a greater role in terms of inspections, it should come with additional
resources and statutory duty. The Minister said he would welcome evidence from
authorities detailing how much they had already spent, and predicted future costs.
In response to the update paper, the statistics in paragraph 14 were queried. It stated
that 31 per cent of all incidents were non-fire related and that 29 per cent were fire
related. It was not clear what sorts of the calls the remaining 40 per cent were made
of. Officers said that they would look at the statistics and update members via email.
Decision:
Members noted the update paper.
Action:
Officers to review statistics featured in the paper and update members.
10

Notes from the previous meeting
Members agreed the minutes from the previous meeting as an accurate record of the
discussion.

Page 79

LGA location map
Bus routes – Millbank
87 Wandsworth - Aldwych
3

Crystal Palace - Brixton Oxford Circus

C10 Canada Water - Pimlico Victoria
88 Camden Town - Whitehall
- Westminster - Pimlico Clapham Common

ar y
c tu

10 minute
walking
distance

Greeaatt
C
College
St
S

5 minute
walking
distance

For further details, please call
0845 900 1234 or visit the website
at www.cclondon.com

k

507 Waterloo - Victoria

San

Millban

Bus routes – Horseferry Road

18 Smith Square is located
within the congestion
charging zone.

ad

ad

Buses 3 and 87 travel along
Millbank, and the 507 between
Victoria and Waterloo stops in
Horseferry Road close to Dean
Bradley Street.

Central London Congestion
Charging Zone

Bro

Broadway

Ro

The nearest Barclays cycle hire
racks are in Smith Square.
Cycle racks are also available at
18 Smith Square. Please
telephone the LGA
on 020 7664 3131.

y

18 Smith Square is well served by
public transport. The nearest
mainline stations are: Victoria
and Waterloo: the local
underground stations are
St James’s Park (Circle and
District Lines), Westminster
(Circle, District and Jubilee Lines),
and Pimlico (Victoria Line) - all
about 10 minutes walk away.

eferr

Cycling facilities

Hors

Public transport

d
roun
on G
Strutt

For further information, visit the
Transport for London website
at 

Page 80

Tel: 020 7664 3131
Fax: 020 7664 3030
Email: info@local.gov.uk
Website: www.local.gov.uk

Br
oa
dw
ay

Local Government Association
18 Smith Square
London SW1P 3HZ

Car parks
Abingdon Street Car Park (off
Great College Street)
Horseferry Road Car Park
Horseferry Road/Arneway
Street. Visit the website at
      

Local
Government
House

